
CAROLINA BEACH  

 

Town Council Regular Meeting 

Tuesday, September 08, 2020 ꟷ 6:30 PM 

Council Chambers, 1121 N. Lake Park Boulevard, Carolina Beach, NC 

 
AGENDA 

 

CALL TO ORDER 

INVOCATION AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

ADOPT THE AGENDA 

CONSENT AGENDA 

1. Set a Public Hearing for October 13, 2020 to consider a Conditional Use Permit for a Day Care 
Facility located at 105 S. Dow Rd  Applicant: Seaside Chapel 

2. Set a Public Hearing for October 13, 2020 to Consider a Text Amendment to Article III & XVIII 
to prohibit Floating Structures in public trust waters. Applicant: Town of Carolina Beach 

3. Approval of Meeting Minutes from 7/28, 8/11, and 8/20 

SPECIAL PRESENTATIONS 

4. WMPO Presentation 

5. Events - Request for discounted Freeman Park daily passes by the Pleasure Island Surf Fishing 
Challenge Group  

6. Events - Request to approve Trash to Treasure Event at CB Lake Park 

7. Events - Island Men Golf Cart Rally and Fund Raiser 10/24/20  

8. Manager’s Update 

PUBLIC COMMENT 
Public Comment allows the public an opportunity to address the Town Council. There is a three minute 
limit on public comments. 

PUBLIC HEARINGS 

9. Consider adopting the 2020 CAMA Land Use Plan Update (LUP) 

ITEMS OF BUSINESS 
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10. Approve the preliminary plat approval for Hidden Hills Phase II Subdivision 

11. Adopt a resolution to decrease the speed limit on Dow Rd and Ocean Blvd. Applicant: Town of 
Carolina Beach 

12. Discussion of Town Mural Design 

13. Committee Appointments 

NON-AGENDA ITEMS 

ADJOURNMENT 

2



 

AGENDA ITEM COVERSHEET 

PREPARED BY: Jeremy Hardison, Planning & 
Development Director  

DEPARTMENT: Planning & 
Development  

MEETING: Town Council – 9/8/2020 

SUBJECT:  
Set a Public Hearing for October 13, 2020 to consider a Conditional Use Permit 
for a Day Care Facility located at 105 S. Dow Rd  Applicant: Seaside Chapel 

  

BACKGROUND: 
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AGENDA ITEM COVERSHEET 

PREPARED BY: Jeremy Hardison, Planning & 
Development Director  

DEPARTMENT: Planning & 
Development  

MEETING: Town Council – 9/8/2020 

SUBJECT:  
Set a Public Hearing for October 13, 2020 to Consider a Text Amendment to 
Article III & XVIII to prohibit Floating Structures in public trust waters.   
Applicant: Town of Carolina Beach  

  

BACKGROUND: 
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AGENDA ITEM COVERSHEET 

PREPARED BY: Kim Ward, Town Clerk DEPARTMENT: Clerk 

MEETING: Town Council – 09/08/2020 

SUBJECT:  Approval of Meeting Minutes from 7/28, 8/11, and 8/20 

  

BACKGROUND: 

Attached are the meeting minutes from the July 28 workshop, the August 11 regular meeting 
and the August 20 special meeting.  

ACTION REQUESTED: 

Review and approve under the consent agenda. 
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CAROLINA BEACH 

Town Council Workshop Minutes 
Tuesday, July 28, 2020 @ 4:00 PM 

Council Chambers 
1121 N. Lake Park Boulevard 

Carolina Beach, NC 28428 

 

ASSEMBLY 

The Town of Carolina Beach Town Council Workshop was held on Tuesday, July 28, 2020, at 4:00 
PM in Council Chambers.  
 
PRESENT: Mayor LeAnn Pierce, Mayor Pro Tem Jay Healy, Council Member Lynn Barbee, Council 
Member Steve Shuttleworth, Council Member JoDan Garza 
..  
 
ALSO PRESENT: Town Manager Bruce Oakley, Town Clerk Kim Ward, and Town Attorney Noel 
Fox 

 
MAYOR PIERCE CALLED THE MEETING TO ORDER  
 
DISCUSSION ITEMS  
1. Employee Recognition 
 
Mr. Oakley recognized the following employees for their time with the Town: 

 Debbie Hall, Finance - 10 years of service 

 Ed Parvin, Executive - 15 years of service 

 Chris Spivey, Police Department - 20 years of service 
 
Chief Spivey announced he would be retiring on December 1. 
 
2. Approval of Financing Terms for Purchase of Knuckleboom and Can Machine 
 
Finance Director Debbie Hall requested bid proposals from five banks for financing of a new 
Broyhill can machine at $205,000 and a new Brush Hawg knuckleboom at $135,000 for five 
annual payments. The following proposal was received: $340,000 from BB&T at 1.56% interest 
for 5 years. This has no budgetary impact; the debt service payment was included in the 
approved annual budget. 
 
ACTION: Motion to approve Resolution #20-2230 in the amount of $340,000 for the purchase of 
a can machine and knuckleboom truck 
Motion: Mayor Pierce 
Vote: UNANIMOUS 
 
3. Stormwater Update by Brian Stanberry 
 
Public Works Director Brian Stanberry gave an update on current and future stormwater 
projects. 
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Stormwater Daily Operation 
6 Full Time Staff Members, 1 Permit Review, Director 

 Quarterly maintenance and inspection of Canal Drive outfall valves 

 Pre/During/Post Rain Event Inspection of all Stormwater Infrastructure 

 Quarterly cleaning of 7 sedimentation vaults and trash racks 

 Vactor cleaning of 9,348 LF of Stormwater Pipe and 272 basins, 1,380 CY of debris 
removed 

 M&O of 5 primary pump stations and 3 auxiliary Stormwater Pumps (10+ during 
Hurricanes/Storms) 

 Street Sweeper 

 Lake/Pond oversight 
 
Problem Resolution 

 Flooding concerns are fielded through Director and staff. 

 If actions are appropriate and achievable, they are undertaken directly. 

 Lists are created of the reported and observed issues. 

 Staff determines if a solution for each issue is budgetarily feasible. 

 Immediately fundable projects are moved forward. 

 If solution is not permissible in the existing budget, it is factored into the upcoming 
budget proposal.  

 
Stormwater Accomplishments of 2019/2020 

 600 Block of Charlotte/Henniker’s Pipe Replacement 

 Purchase of New Stormwater Vactor 

 3rd and Spartanburg Drainage Improvements 

 Extension of Lake Pump Intake 

 600 Block of Columbia Drainage Improvement 

 Tennessee/Bowfin Drainage Improvements 

 South Third Street/Lake Ditch Cleaning and Armoring 

 Texas/Snapper Pump Station Modifications and Improvements 

 Clarendon/8th Drainage Extension  
 
2020/2021 Stormwater Improvements 

 Ocean Heights Stormwater Installation Completion (Rollover from 2019) 

 Henniker's Ditch Cleaning/Maintenance (Rollover from 2019) 

 1214/1216 Mackerel Drainage Improvement (Rollover from 2019) 

 1306 Snapper Drainage Improvement (Rollover from 2019) 

 1317 Pinfish Drainage Improvement (Rollover from 2019) 

 S. Sixth/Atlanta Drainage Improvement 

 700 Block of Columbia Drainage Extension and Repair 

 CBA-North Paving 

 Installation of Bypass Pump Connection at Greenville Lift Station 
 
Known Deficiencies: 

 Phase C – Old Infrastructure – Engineered-Unfunded 
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 Phase D (Stormwater Priority 5)- Preliminary Engineering-Unfunded 

 Canal Drive / North End 
 
Council Member Barbee asked how critical finishing the lake dredge is to managing stormwater. 
Mr. Stanberry said it is absolutely critical because each day more impervious soil goes away. 
 
Council Member Barbee asked Mr. Stanberry to encourage his staff to engage with the public 
more because there has been positive feedback about Public Works’ communication with 
residents. 
 
4. Review the Minimum Housing and Abandoned Structure Process 
 
At the June workshop, Council requested that staff give an overview of the abandoned 
structures located in the downtown area. Council gave staff direction to start the enforcement 
process. Planning Director Jeremy Hardison said staff has notified the property owners and 
started the inspection process at the following properties: 

 7 Pavilion Avenue 

 3 Pavilion Avenue 

 12 Pavilion Avenue  

 101 Cape Fear Boulevard 

 109 Cape Fear Boulevard 

 308 Carolina Beach Avenue North 

 1800 Canal Drive  
 
Below is an outline of the enforcement process: 

 A petition is filed with the Inspector 

 Inspector serves the complaint and starts to investigate (2 weeks) 

 Inspector schedules a hearing to review findings (within 30 days) 

 Inspector issues order of findings to repair or remove structure (within a week) 

 The order will give owner specific time to comply with order (30-90 days) 

 Owner has option to appeal Inspector’s order to the BOA (10 days) 

 Owner has option to appeal BOA decision to Superior Court (30 days) 

 If owner fails to comply with the order, the Inspector request Council to adopt an 
ordinance to proceed with repair or removal of the structure (within 90 days) 

 File a lien on the property for the cost of removal or repair 
 
Mr. Hardison reviewed the checklist for minimum housing: 
Minimum standards for structural condition 

 Walls or partitions or supporting members 

 Floors or roofs 

 Foundation 

 Steps, stairs, landings, porches, chimneys shall not be rotted, deteriorated or damaged 

 Adequate facilities for egress in case for fire 

 Interior shall be maintained and promote sanitation and cleanliness 

 The roof, walls, floors, doors and windows to be weathertight and watertight 

 There shall be no use of the ground for floors, or wood floors on the ground 
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Minimum standards for basic equipment and facilities 

 Plumbing system 

 Heating system 

 Electrical systems 

 Ventilation 

 Proper ceiling heights 

 Minimum sq. ft. of floor area per occupant 
 
Minimum standards for control of insects, rodents, and infestations 

 Rodent control 

 Infestation 

 Rubbish and garbage storage and disposal 

 Public areas shall be clean and sanitary condition 
 
Mr. Hardison also reviewed the criteria for an abandoned structure: 

 Deterioration of foundation, floors, walls, ceilings, roof 

 Violations of State Building Code and Fire Code Violations 

 Collection of debris, garbage, rubbish, or other combustible materials  

 Conditions that may attract or become breeding places for rodents and insects  

 The grounds or facilities by children as play area or other use that threatens or 
endangers health and safety  

 Use of structure by transients, vagrants, or other similar persons in the absence of 
sanitary facilities 

 
CLOSED SESSION 
Closed Session to Discuss an Attorney/Client Matter and Personnel Matter 
 
ACTION: Motion to go into closed session to discuss an attorney/client matter in accordance 
with NCGS 143-318.11(a)(3) and a personnel matter in accordance with NCGS 143-318.11(a)(6). 
The attorney/client matter will include 20 CVS 1444 in regard to a request by Carolina Beach 
Yacht Club, LLC. 
Motion: Mayor Pierce 
Vote: UNANIMOUS 
 
Council returned to open session at 5:40 PM. No action was taken during closed session.  
 
NON-AGENDA ITEMS 
Assistant Town Manager Ed Parvin said Council skipped non-agenda items earlier but wanted to 
mention that there will be a public meeting to discuss the Land Use Plan on August 20 at 6:00 
PM at the lake. 
 
ADJOURNMENT 
Mayor Pierce made a motion to adjourn at 5:45 PM. Motion passed unanimously.  
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CAROLINA BEACH 

Town Council Regular Meeting Minutes 
Tuesday, August 11, 2020 @ 6:30 PM 

Council Chambers 
1121 N. Lake Park Boulevard 

Carolina Beach, NC 28428 

 

ASSEMBLY 

The Town of Carolina Beach Town Council Regular Meeting was held on Tuesday, August 11, 
2020, at 6:30 PM in Council Chambers.  
 
PRESENT: Mayor LeAnn Pierce, Mayor Pro Tem Jay Healy, Council Member Lynn Barbee, Council 
Member JoDan Garza, Council Member Steve Shuttleworth 
..  
 
ALSO PRESENT: Town Manager Bruce Oakley, Town Clerk Kim Ward, and Town Attorney Noel 
Fox 

 
MAYOR PIERCE CALLED THE MEETING TO ORDER WITH INVOCATION BY MAYOR PIERCE 
FOLLOWED BY THE PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE  
 
ADOPT THE AGENDA  
ACTION: Motion to adopt the agenda with the removal of item 7 (amending Chapter 10 to Sec. 
10-3 definitions & Sec. 10-4 General Regulations to address floating homes), which will be heard 
at the next workshop in two weeks 
Motion: Mayor Pierce 
Vote: UNANIMOUS  
 
CONSENT AGENDA  
Meeting Minutes 
1. Approval of Meeting Minutes July 14 and August 3 
 
Budget Amendment(s) 
2. Budget Amendments/Transfers FY20 
3. Budget Amendments for Carryovers 
 
ACTION: Motion to approve the consent agenda 
Motion: Mayor Pierce 
Vote: UNANIMOUS  
 
SPECIAL PRESENTATIONS  
4. Lake Park Presentation on Erosion 
 
Virginia Holman, a Carolina Beach resident for 16 years, gave a presentation about ideas for 
naturally restoring the banks at the Carolina Beach Lake. She said the Town’s natural and unique 
freshwater lake feature should move away from using hardened structures to control erosion 
because they cause problems such as impeding small wildlife movements and creating vistas for 
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nuisance animals. She said properly installed native trees and plantings are much more effective 
at preventing erosion. The North Carolina Wildlife Federation and other organizations have 
agreed to supply at no cost all plants and large trees up to 15 gallons, installation expertise, 
educational signage, and volunteers for installation and cleanup. Ms. Holman said the proposal 
will create a more beautiful and healthy lake. She said the effort to preserve the habitat started 
in June after she posted on social media about finding two large sliders wedged in boulders on 
the south side of the lake. As the Town has developed, the lake’s boundaries have been 
significantly altered and the body of water is no longer surrounded by huge wetlands as it used 
to be, Ms. Holman said. 
 
Carolina Beach Lake Park Enhancement Proposal 
A collaborative effort of citizen volunteers, grant funders, and pro bono experts 
 
Current Uses of Carolina Beach Lake (use extensively by the local community and wildlife) 

 Weekly farmers market 

 Exercise area 

 Tourist attraction 

 Area for town or holiday events 

 Learning area for school children 

 Important area for migrating birds and other wildlife 
 
Current Issues with Carolina Beach Lake (a group of over 300 Carolina Beach citizens and tourists 
recently signed a petition to improve the management and conservation of Carolina Beach Lake) 

 Lake edge erosion 

 Poor water quality 

 Heavy metal contamination 

 Algal blooms 

 Poor aesthetics 

 Nuisance geese 
 
Lake Improvement Opportunities  
Concerned citizens have gained support of a variety of environmental groups including: 

 North Carolina Wildlife Federation 

 Plastic Ocean Project 

 NC Cooperative Extension 

 NC SeaGrant 

 Cape Fear River Watch 

 Island Montessori 

 And more! 
 
Native Plantings Around Lake 

 Prevent lake edge erosion 

 Improve water and soil quality 

 Prevent algal blooms 

 Enhance aesthetics 

 Restrict nuisance geese 
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Native Plant Benefits 

 Stabilize Soil 

 Uptake of heavy metals 

 Uptake of excess nutrients 

 Aesthetically pleasing 

 Provide habitat for pollinators 

 and other wildlife 
 
The Plan (after approval: Design, plant species selection, coordination with Parks & Rec, etc.) 

 Complete plantings in phases 
o Soil/water samples 
o Determine appropriate plant material 

 Funding by NC Wildlife Federation 

 Additional funding may occur upon approval 

 Volunteer base ready for planting and maintenance needs 
 
Initial phase, Southern Lake Shoreline (urgent, due to severe erosion issue) 
Goals: 

 Large trees planted along perimeter, taking views into consideration. 

 After trees are installed, native plants will be added along shoreline. 

 Path will have mown 3-foot buffer on each side. 

 Low simple fence installed by scouts to provide a visual barrier for foot traffic and grass 
maintenance. 

 
Phase Two 

 Island #1 Goals: 
o Native planting around perimeter and around sidewalk 
o Phragmites removal 

 
Phase Three 

 Island 2 Goals: 
o Turn into a butterfly garden using native seed packets or native plants 
o Add turtle basking log/platform 

 
Management Plan (volunteer-based management and assistance from Parks and Recreation) 

 Native plants are self-sufficient once established 

 NCWF CB chapter, CFRW, and other groups have committed to ongoing cleanups and 
maintenance. 

 We have also reached out to members of the town’s newly formed beautification 
committee to assist – one member, local master gardener Dawn Betz is already on 
board to assist. 

 
Benefits to the Town (enhanced aesthetics will not obstruct desirable views and will help control 
phragmites-invasive plant nuisance) 

 Improve lake qualities 

 Improve lake habitat 

 Encourage tourism 
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 Promote local businesses and events (imagine Night of Lights with decorated trees!) 

 Increase property value 
 
Next steps (with Town Council’s permission, we can begin to use these opportunities to benefit 
the Town) 

 Set dates for planting 

 Select and order plants 

 Gather supplies and organize volunteers 

 Utilize all resources and funding opportunities 

 Select location of tree installations 
 
Mayor Pro Tem Healy asked how heavy metal contamination is defined. Ms. Holman said it’s 
arsenic and mercury and other things that wind up in runoff from pesticides and herbicides. She 
said with stormwater funneling in from many areas, this accumulates over time and native 
plants can help sequester it. Mayor Pro Tem Healy praised this effort as positive and beneficial 
to the Town. 
 
Mayor Pierce said historically grassroots efforts such as this have been very instrumental parts 
of the Town’s progress, including on the Boardwalk, so she was in favor of it. She asked Mr. 
Oakley if there was a staff liaison for the project, and he said it was Parks & Recreation Director 
Eric Jelinski. Mayor Pierce also suggested that someone from Council get involved, and Mayor 
Pro Tem Healy said he would. 
 
Council Member Barbee said he hopes organizers will consider that the island on the lake will 
sometimes be underwater. Ms. Holman said they have already been thinking about the types of 
native plants that will be able to survive there.  
 
Council Member Garza said the majority of plants discussed love water and absorb quickly. He 
said it was encouraging to see how a few people can get together to improve the Town and 
thanked Ms. Holman’s for the group’s efforts. 
 
Mayor Pierce said the Town should keep in mind that it still needs somewhere to put lake 
dredge spoils since being denied by Military Ocean Terminal Sunny Point (MOTSU). Lloyd 
Singleton, County Extension Director for North Carolina Cooperative Extension, said the best 
time to plant trees is in the winter. Council Member Shuttleworth asked which side the group 
envisioned starting on. Mr. Singleton said the south side opposite of the playground. Council 
Member Shuttleworth said he loves the idea of doing plantings instead of hard structures. Mr. 
Singleton said the group hopes to bring in expertise from N.C. State University. 
 
Council Member Barbee said he wants the people who were involved with the master plan get 
together with this group before any work begins. Council Member Shuttleworth said he isn’t 
sure there’s a conflict between the two. Mr. Jelinski said he views the two groups as separate 
and said most of the focus for the native plantings is on the south side of the lake, which does 
not interfere with the master plan for Lake Park. Council Member Barbee said after getting input 
from the public previously, he thinks the Town should not move forward with doing something 
that has not received any public input. Mr. Jelinski suggested a public meeting at the lake for the 
public to get more information and give input. Mayor Pierce asked for this to be added to the 
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special meeting at the lake scheduled for August 20. Mr. Jelinski said he could set up a table 
with volunteers. Council Member Barbee asked if there are examples of similar projects nearby. 
Mr. Jelinski mentioned Wade Park in Wilmington. Council Member Garza also mentioned local 
carnivorous plant gardens. Mayor Pierce asked that something be put together for citizens to 
see and that the public be notified of the opportunity. She thanked the group for doing so much 
work. 
 
5. Manager’s Update 
 
Mr. Oakley gave an update on current projects and events. 
 
Hurricane Isaias 

 Damage Assessment – minor to both Town and private interests; overall fortunate 

 Vegetative Debris – pickup underway 

 Beach Erosion – some near Periwinkle beach access and down; overall fortunate 

 Freeman Park – did lose some sand; less capacity for vehicles 

 Harbor – Assistant Town Manager Ed Parvin will discuss this later 
 
Council Member Barbee said some people are not getting message that non-vegetative debris 
should not go in piles, so he wants to know what else can be done to make sure residents are 
aware. Mr. Oakley said the Town will keep pushing out that information as much as possible. 
Mayor Pierce asked about the possibility of charging those non-vegetative items to the 
homeowner. Mr. Oakley said the Town can look into that.  
 
Utility Billing 

 Governor’s Utility Disconnect Order Ended – the Town doesn’t have the authority to 
continue that policy but will work with individuals who still need assistance 

 Payment Plans 
o Contact Town Hall by August 20, 2020 
o Six-month repayment period 
o No late fees or penalties 

 
Efficiency Study 

 Initial Interviews Completed 

 On-Site Visits Start Next Week 
o Additional interviews 
o Observations 

 
Mr. Oakley said hopefully the Town is on track to finish this within the next two months. 
 
NCDOT 
Staff had a meeting last Friday with a Local District Engineer for the N.C. Department of 
Transportation. 

 Pedestrian Improvements on Ocean Boulevard – submit to Transportation Improvement 
Program (TIP) for spring 

 Traffic Signal at Hamlet – delayed because of DOT funding shortage; hoping things will 
change because it comes in cycles 

14

Item 3.



August 11, 2020   6 

 Traffic Improvements on Lake Park – submit to TIP for spring 

 Dow Road and Ocean Boulevard – the Town was told in the past a speed limit reduction 
could not be done, but if the Town agrees to enforcement it is a possibility 
 

Regarding the speed limit change, Mayor Pierce asked if Council should schedule a public 
hearing first and then submit the request to the DOT or vice versa. Mr. Oakley said all it requires 
is a resolution from Council requesting the change and the Town stating it will enforce it. Mr. 
Oakley said he can prepare a resolution for the next workshop if that’s how Council wants to 
proceed. Mayor Pierce said the Town should talk to Kure Beach before moving forward. Council 
Member Shuttleworth said he agreed this should be done out of neighborly courtesy. 
 
Mayor Pro Tem Healy said he would like for a previous discussion about a crosswalk in the Publix 
area to be addressed. Mr. Oakley said the Town will put in TIP requests; it is preferable that the 
DOT takes an overarching look at the whole area to help the Town come up with a plan. 
 
Police Chief Search 
U.S. I.S.S. Agency 

 Review of Candidates 

 Review of Finalists 
o Extensive vetting of candidates 
o Panel interviews 
o Presentation to executive staff  

 
Mr. Oakley requested Council’s permission to negotiate and enter into an agreement to help 
with the search, which should conclude around the same time as Chief Chris Spivey’s retirement 
on December 1. Mayor Pierce asked if the cost would be $18,000. Mr. Oakley said it will be 
lower because the Town has already eliminated some things and is working on a final price. 
Mayor Pierce said the agency would handle all aspects of the search, including seeking 
candidates, running background checks, and doing interviews, with Mr. Oakley having the final 
say in hiring. Mr. Oakley said this service is important because hiring a Police Chief is different 
than hiring other department heads, and expertise is necessary. 
 
ACTION: Motion to have the Town Manager enter into a contract to vet candidates for Police 
Chief with discretionary funds with a top of $18,000 and to negotiate less 
Motion: Mayor Pierce 
Vote: UNANIMOUS 
 
Town Marina 

 Golden LEAF Foundation Grant 
o $2.1 Million Grant  
o 70% of the Repairs 
o Must Continue with FEMA Appeal 
o FEMA Duplicated Funding Will Reduce Award 

 Timeline 
o Can Start Immediately 
o Reimbursements – can’t come until the Town meets some requirements 
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Mayor Pierce praised Mr. Oakley and the rest of Town staff for finding a large amount of money 
that does not require a match. She said the repairs had to be done somehow, so this will really 
help with the Town budget. 
 
Council Member Barbee suggested doing another presentation about the project for the public 
because there would be some disruptions in that area once it starts. Mr. Parvin said this is 
already in the works, and the Town is cognizant of keeping the impact to Canal Drive low during 
the summer season. 
 
Mayor Pierce said the Town should nail down a time frame for how long it will take the Town to 
get the remainder of the money that will come out of pocket for the project. 
 
Mr. Parvin gave an update on the harbor following Hurricane Isaias. There were nine vessels 
that anchored in the harbor area. The Town closes the mooring field during storms for liability 
purposes, but people still use it. Two of the nine vessels clipped on to the mooring, and one is 
still there; this is in violation because the Town has not yet reopened the mooring field, but 
there is no action taken if they are seeking safe harbor during a storm. One vessel’s line broke, 
causing it to break free, while the other seven dragged anchor. Three damaged private docks, 
and the Town is working to resolve those issues. All vessels have been given warnings, and after 
warnings come citations. Mr. Parvin said the new ordinance that Council put in place in May has 
allowed the Town to move forward with the process. 
 
PUBLIC COMMENT  
Karen Hall of 205 Raleigh Avenue said she has been living on the island since 2016 and is having 
an issue with flooding in her yard. She said the house was built in 1933 and that everybody is 
building up around it, specifically citing nearby sloping driveways and parking lots as culprits. 
She said one such property had well beyond its permitted three loads of dirt, so she called the 
Town and asked for someone to take a look. She said the person who responded did not treat 
her nicely and did not take any action about the extra dirt, which has now been made into a 
slope. She said she spoke to the Town employee’s manager, but so far nothing has been done. 
 
Council Response: 
Mayor Pierce asked the resident to give her address to Mr. Oakley so he could look into the 
matter and get back to her. Mayor Pierce thanked the resident coming and reporting the issue. 
 
PUBLIC HEARINGS  
6. Consider a Conditional Use Permit for an 8-Unit Single-Family Residential Planned Unit 
Development to be located at 522 N. 7th Street 

 

The following individuals were sworn in: 

 Erin Delaney, 520 North 7th Street 

 Ward Basinger, 526 North 7th Street 

 Mark Campbell, 107 Palm Breeze Drive 

 Norma Weeks, 515 North 7th Street 

 Roshell Heckendorf, 116 Palm Breeze Drive 

 Mary Jean Aydelotte, 106 Island Palms Drive 

 Alexis Lunsford, NextHome Cape Fear 
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 Quinn Marlow, Applicant 

 Susan Keelin, Applicant’s Attorney 

 Patricia Keane, no address given 

 Byron Hevey, no address given 

 

Mayor Pierce: OK, very well. So, at this time I'll make a motion to open the evidentiary 
hearing for the conditional-use permit for eight-unit single family residential planned unit 
development to be located at 522 North Seventh Street. All in favor? 

 

Council: Aye (motion passed unanimously).  

 

Mayor Pierce: Attorney Fox, would you like to have a discussion on the quasi-judicial matters? 

 

Ms. Fox: Yes, Mayor. Thank you. Mayor, Council, as you know this is a quasi-judicial hearing. 
That means it is an evidentiary hearing much like would take place in a courtroom. You must 
follow very specific procedures required by state law in making its decision tonight. All the 
testimony this evening will be under oath, and you are to make your decision based on 
competent, relevant, and substantial evidence in the record. If you're speaking as a witness, 
please focus on the facts and standards, not personal preference or opinion. If you speak, the 
applicant's attorney may cross-examine you just like she could in a court of law about the 
testimony that you give. If you intend to testify, please do not offer unsupported opinions or 
speculation. The board cannot consider this testimony. Please limit your testimony to relevant 
and competent substantial and material evidence. Competent evidence, evidence is not opinion 
testimony of lay witnesses about the following things: one, use of property in a particular way 
would affect the value of other property. The increase in vehicular traffic resulting from a 
proposed use would pose a danger to public safety. Matters about which only expert testimony 
would generally be admissible under the rules of evidence. Before we begin, you all will be 
familiar with this part, the parties before you tonight are entitled to have this matter judged by 
an impartial decision maker. If you have a conflict of interest, you must not participate. A 
conflict exists if you have a close familial, business, or other relationship with an affected person 
or a financial interest in the outcome of the matter. Does any member of the board have any 
conflict partiality to disclose or recusal to offer? 

 

Council: No. 

 

Ms. Fox: You’re just going to have to shake your heads I guess, so we. OK, all members are 
shaking their heads no. I am aware that some of you received some emails that you forwarded 
to Town staff and Town staff then forwarded a response to those folks. Do you have any other 
ex parte communications to disclose? 

 

Council: No.  

 

Ms. Fox: OK. 

 

Mayor Pierce: OK, thank you, Attorney Fox, and we'll move into the staff presentation. 
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Miles Murphy (Planner): Good evening, Mayor, Council. Happy to see you. I apologize for the 
mic. It's a little bit jury-rigged over here, so hopefully reception will not be bad. I’m happy to be 
back in front of you. It's been a long time. I think three, might have been March or April since 
last time I had the pleasure, but good to see you all. Tonight, I’ll be presenting a conditional use 
permit for a planned unit development at 522 North 7th Street. Just for some background, this 
aerial will give you an example of the conditions at 522 North 7th, though that’s not what it 
looks like today. Currently it features a large single-family home placed right in the center of it, 
but that project has since been abandoned. The applicant is Marlow Construction LLC, who is 
with us this evening with their attorney. So that is what currently is occupying 522 North 7th, 
though I have been informed that structure has taken a little bit of storm damage from the 
recent hurricane, so definitely something needs to be done with the lot regardless of the 
outcome of this evening. These are the adjacent properties on 7th Street. These are the five 
directly adjacent properties and Olde Mariners, and these are the three directly adjacent 
properties on Palm Breeze. Residential planned unit developments are permitted in the R-1 
zoning district, where 522 North 7th is located. They are permitted by conditional-use permit, 
hence my presence in front of you tonight, and they have a max density of 15 units per acre, and 
this area normally has a 50-foot height limit, but because of an overlay district they're going to 
be limited to 45 feet in overall height. Otherwise it's your standard R-1 requirements of 40 
percent lot coverage and set general setbacks. Their site plan includes a landscape buffer 
requirement for the planned unit development of 10 feet around the site. It is featuring eight 
single-family homes, each home featuring a footprint of 900 square feet. Drive aisles and 
parking meet standards for zoning requirements and fire access. They have open space of 88 
percent and lot coverage of structures of 12 percent. State stormwater permit will be required 
and a stormwater plan including a retention pond is featured and will be refined by an engineer. 
All units meet the minimum 15-feet separation requirement with 15 and a half feet being the 
small separation, and the units are described to be approximately three to four bedrooms and 
provide a minimum of three parking spaces required per unit. And it's worth noting that the size 
of this lot could technically accommodate 20 units based on the standards for the R-1 zoning 
district, but since the beginning of this process the proposal has been refined down to eight 
single-family units to be, excuse me. The specific standards, the ingress and egress, will remain 
via North 7th Street, and design is accommodating two-way traffic with efficient, sufficient 
parking for single-family residences, and the staff has requested the continuation to attempt to 
continue the sidewalk that is along 7th Street there and efforts as part of the Bike and Ped 
Master Plan. I believe we're just trying to encourage walkability and bikeability of the Town. Off-
street parking, as I said, has been provided on each individual parcel or individual home 
driveway area, as you can see on the site plan. The refuse and trash will be handled in the 
standard method throughout the Town with enough space for a trash truck to get back into 
those, into that cul-de-sac. Utilities will be provided by Duke and the Town. State stormwater 
permit is required, as I stated, and a fire hydrant is going to be installed to help service the cul-
de-sac. Screening and buffering, as I mentioned, the planned unit development requires a 10-
foot landscape buffer, which has been accommodated on the site plan. Additionally, a 6-foot 
fence is proposed to surround the entire planned unit development, provide a little bit of 
additional buffer from headlights and general separation. There are no signs proposed at this 
time, and any signs would have to come before the general, the Planning Department for a 
general sign permit and meet all those standards and requirements. And otherwise they have no 
additional requirements for yard or open space. Just meet the minimum of 15 feet between 
structures, 20, and a minimum of 25 percent open space and are far below their lot coverage 
requirements. And just over on the lower right hand of your screen you'll see the setbacks for 
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the structures there to the to the property lines. The four general conditions, the density falls 
within the standard R-1 density requirements, and the proposed structures follow the setback 
requirements for where they are located. The proposed CUP meets all required conditions and 
specifications. The proposed structures and use will conform with the neighboring properties, 
and the future land use of Residential-1 includes a predominance of single and duplex units. 
Block coverage will not be allowed to exceed 40, and infrastructure to undeveloped and 
unserved areas will be at the expense of the developer. Staff recommends the approval of the 
proposed residential conditional-use permit with the requirement of a 4-foot-wide sidewalk 
extension parallel to the 7th Street right-of-way, and I’m happy to answer any questions you all 
may have. 

 

Mayor Pierce: Any questions at this time, or do you want to come back to staff? 

 

Council Member Garza: Come back. 

 

Mayor Pierce: OK, don't go far. And would the applicant like to present evidence now? 

 

Susan Keelin: Good, evening, Mayor Pierce and members of Town Council. My name is Susan 
Keelin, and I represent the applicant for this conditional-use permit, which is Marlow 
Construction LLC, and Mr. Quinn Marlow is present, and he will be testifying momentarily. I 
have the unfortunate eyesight problem that I cannot see you without my glasses but I can't see 
my paper with my glasses, so I might be doing a back and forth a little bit, so I apologize for that. 
I want to start by thanking Noel Fox for introducing the quasi-judicial proceeding requirements, 
which I’m confident that you're aware of already, so thank you in advance for sort of indulging 
me as I maybe repeat them a bit because I think it is so important in this context. Just four 
months ago, in April of 2020, the North Carolina Supreme Court held in a very important quasi-
judicial hearing case called PHG Asheville LLC versus City of Asheville that a, that quote a 
conditional-use permit is one issued for a use which the ordinance expressly permits in a 
designated zone upon proof that certain facts and conditions detailed in the ordinance exist. In 
other words, as you know, the purpose of this hearing is not to solicit any sort of public opinion 
and comment about policies that are already in place but rather to receive evidence to 
determine whether this particular proposal fits the requirements of the ordinance that already 
exists. This council has already made, this Council or a prior Council has already made a 
legislative decision to allow this particular proposed project in this location by right so long as 
those specific requirements and four standards are met with competent, material, and 
substantial evidence tending to show that the project satisfies those standards unless there is 
competent, material, and substantial evidence to the contrary. And I make that point again to 
say that the burden on the applicant is to provide evidence tending to show that those 
requirements are satisfied. Once that has happened, there's a prima facie determination that 
the permit should be issued unless there is competent, material, and substantial evidence to the 
contrary.  If there is no competent evidence to the contrary, the permit has to be issued, and 
substantial evidence is defined as evidence that a reasonable mind would regard as sufficiently 
supporting a specific result. By sort of comparison or contrast, if you will, the courts have also 
said that a general expression of some sort of a fear of potential problems is not adequate 
evidence. So far, we've had testimony in support of the application from Miles Murphy, who has 
presented the staff report, and we will have additional testimony from Mr. Marlow as well as 
Alexis Lunsford, who was a realtor with NextHome Cape Fear. I don't know how you would 
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prefer to handle some of the procedural issues, so absent objection I would like to sort of 
preliminarily ask in advance if the Council will accept into evidence any of the slides or other 
documentary evidence that is presented by or on behalf of the applicant. Again, absent 
objection, I would like to do that and to accept Alexis Lunsford as an expert witness in the area 
of property valuation in Carolina Beach. She, of course, is going to have to testify and provide 
sufficient foundation of her qualifications for you to be satisfied of that fact. 

 

Mayor Pierce: And you'll be calling her as a? 

 

Ms. Keelin: I will be calling her as a witness, yes. I want also to make sort of a standing objection  

to this Council's consideration of any irrelevant, non-factual, or otherwise incompetent 
testimony tendered by any opposing witness, and I'm well aware based on who's in the 
audience and who signed up that there are a number of people who would like to be heard in 
opposition apparently to this proposal, and instead of me interrupting the flow of their 
argument, I would like to instead, not their argument but their opposition, I would like to 
instead just make that standing objection that Council be aware that if they are not testifying 
based on facts, if it's speculation, if it's not related or relevant to this particular project, I don't 
want to interrupt their opportunity to speak to you and be heard, but I would like for you to 
know that I do have an objection to that for consideration. And finally, at the conclusion of all 
the testimony, I would like an opportunity to confirm that the evidence tendered has been 
accepted into the record, just so we're clear on that, and to renew that standing objection and 
then make a closing argument. I'm going to have Quinn Marlow present testimony, Alexis 
Lunsford, and then I would like to spend just a couple more minutes and present as a witness 
some recorded plats that have already been provided to Mr. Miles, and he's shaking his head 
that he has those slides, and that's just going to be some relevant evidence that I think you will 
want to consider to understand the history of this property and how it was originally not one 
single 1.34-acre tract but multiple lots. So, at this time, I would ask Mr. Marlow to come and 
present his testimony. Thank you. 

 

Quinn Marlow: How's everyone? Thank you for having us during this time. We appreciate being 
able to be heard and speak in this forum. So, if Miles, could you put that in slideshow?  So 
basically, our first slide is to show the site plan in more of a visual manner. So basically, we have 
eight proposed single-family homes. They are 1,800 square feet. They are two stories on a slab. 
They are not on pilings, so it's no more than two stories with a roof. There will be a single-car 
garage. Residents’ driveways will fit two cars, and then you can also park one in the garage, so a 
total of three, and that is similar to Palm Breeze and Olde Mariners Way. They’ll also be densely 
planted with trees and vegetation all around, which you can see some. Our site plan towards the 
end will show even further and then we also plan to plant evergreens along the entry driveway 
which is right off 7th Street and there'll also be a 6-foot-tall privacy fence. After hearing the 
comments from our other meetings, our HOA will limit short-term rentals. We don't believe 
being as far back it's necessarily needed, so there'll also be no boat or RV parking in the 
community. There'll be a central mailbox within the community as well, and the trash pickup at 
each individual home as well, just like the surrounding communities. So it was our design intent 
to push more density towards the back of the development, and that's why you will see our 
three or four larger homes back towards the storage facility in the back, as well as this plan is 
very similar to Palm Breeze, as you will notice. So speaking of density, we proposed eight single-
family homes. It is a similar scale density to the neighboring subdivisions developed on 7th 
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Street. The site plan illustrates the relationship of the neighboring properties compared to our 
neighbors. This lot was once four lots that included one of the houses on the side of our drive. 
There's now technically three left if it had not been combined to its current state. And with a 
max density, we could build six townhomes, one building on each of those three original lots, 
with a driveway that was 22 feet wide. We are now only asking for two additional single-family 
homes that fits more in harmony with an access that is 36.6 feet wide, which is much larger than 
both Mariners and Palm Breeze. You may be aware we have changed from our original plan 
twice. We first proposed 12 townhomes, which was switched to nine single-family homes upon 
request of the neighbors, and then we reduced that down to eight based on one request so that 
we had three houses closer together, and so we eliminated one so that that neighbor in Palm 
Breeze would not have as many houses overlooking his yard. And so that's some aspects of the 
density. So we put this little scheme together basically to show the houses we're proposing 
compared to the ones in Mariners and the ones that are on either side of our entry. You'll see 
on the right basically that we have two different type of house designs. One's a little bit wider 
and one's a little bit skinnier. You'll see those on the right, and this is to scale with the rest in the 
design. So, 526 North, that is a single-story, single-family home. Olde Mariners, this is specific to 
their home sizes, and then 720 North Avenue, you'll see their height is a little bit larger. This 
basically just shows comparison that we are trying to fit with harmony of the surrounding 
communities. So, the entry, it is a two-lane entry street. There will be large vegetation planting 
along the entry with again a 6-foot privacy fence. The width is 36.6 feet, and total width of the 
entry, we have agreed to do the added sidewalks at the 7th Street, so they'll be at the 4-foot-
wide sidewalk connections for the Town's future plans. Parking and traffic in comparison to 
Palm Breeze and Mariners only has on average two cars in their driveways based on current 
zoning requirements. We provide off-street parking for the three, so basically, as families usually 
use one car to exit their house efficiently if they're all leaving once, if all of our parking spots 
were full there'd be 24 total with the eight single-family homes. It'd be very unlikely for all of 
those 24 cars to exit onto North 7th Street at once, so in my observation I believe that our 
impact will be very minimal based on the flow of traffic that we observed already from the 
neighboring communities. So, I did do some observations on 810, 811, and 731 that traffic has 
very little movement during the day. There are rare occasions where you have more than one 
car stacked behind each other trying to leave the neighborhood, and so you have less 
congestion concerns with our neighborhood being included in this. And during my observation, 
this all above happened, and I would be, I would have no reason to believe different that that 
would be the case. So also, to specifically speak on the road width, ours is proposed at 24 feet, 
which you'll see in the design dimensioned. Mariners road entry is 26.25 feet wide, and Palm 
Breeze is 22.16 feet wide. This is measured from outside of curb to outside of curb. OK, so the 
next thing would be basically grass from the properties. Ours is larger than Palm Breeze, our 
most compared-to community. This, however, does not take into account that the additional 6-
foot buffer on each side and between that and the fence is obviously the evergreens, which puts 
us 10 foot larger than Mariners, which is a larger community than ours. So we believe that we 
are adequately set to create a low impact on the area based on our drive access, based on our 
buffer zone, our fencing as well. So we have a few pictures. Our centrally located community 
mailbox, it would look something like that. You'll see in the right corner basically trash and 
mailbox examples shown may vary depending on product type, and we would also make sure 
that all of our trash cans are hidden out of the view of the public when you're driving through 
our community, whether it's behind a fence or a bush or something similar to that, but you 
would not be able to see it from the roadway. So basically this is back to the site plan, and I just 
wanted to talk about the vegetation screen a little bit more. We would attempt to plant these 
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plants early on in the construction process, so through the entire construction process they 
would mature instead of planting them after we're done, which landscaping is usually one of the 
last things done in building a standard house. The entry buffer compared to the two neighbors 
on either side, there is a 24-foot-wide road with a 6-foot fence, both with a 6.3-foot buffer on 
each side, which will comprise of tall vegetation, not to mention both houses currently have 
their own 6-foot fence. So we're going to run ours along as well, so you will have very little 
possibility of lights or, you know, it will drown out noise with all of that buffering. And you saw 
in the entry setup that you can see the trees compared to the other houses on either side of our 
road entry. One concern from the two neighbors on either side of our entry is the two houses 
that are first in our community on the left and right side road. We have pushed those as far as 
we can away from our fence that we're going to build, and that is 18 and 20 feet. The left one 
has a 20-foot distance from our property line and an 18-foot distance on the right from our 
property line. There's the vegetation buffer between that and our 6-foot fence, as well as the 
neighboring properties have a 6-foot fence as well in their backyard. And you will see that 
driving through that area, their houses are pushed more towards the street, so they have large 
backyards, and so there is around a 50-foot distance between our first set of houses and the 
back of their house. I mean, most frontages of normal lots in this area is 50 feet, so it's a 
substantial distance, and we believe that it will provide maximum privacy that we can provide. I 
believe that's all I have. I'd be happy to take any questions and concerns or that you may have. 

 

Mayor Pierce: Does Council have any questions for this witness? 

 

Council Member Barbee: I just had a real quick one. Is there a plan for street lighting in that cul-
de-sac? 

 

Mr. Marlow: Yeah. So we believe that we may end up putting two street lights in there as well. 

 

Council Member Barbee: Thank you. 

 

Mayor Pierce: I have a question. 

 

Mr. Marlow: Sure.  

 

Mayor Pierce: I see that you're gonna have some HOA covenants and restrictions, and I see 
you've added a short-term rental into that, which is good for that housing area, I'm sure. Do you 
have those drawn up yet or what those covenants and restrictions would be? 

 

Mr. Marlow: We do not have them drawn up yet for this specific community, but the short-term 
rentals will definitely be specifically addressed in that, as well as like the boats and parking, 
because that was a concern from our P&Z committee. Can people park their boats et cetera in 
their yards like you see and actually the neighboring community of Mariners Way et cetera, and 
so we want to eliminate that in our HOA docs. 

 

Mayor Pierce: And what is the price point or the average price of these houses? 
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Mr. Marlow: Sure, so they will range from the mid-4s, so 450, 475. Our seller’s agent will testify 
to sale prices and include ours as well, so. 

 

Mayor Pierce: Anymore questions? Ms. Keelin, do you have another witness? 

 

Ms. Keelin: I do. Alexis Lunsford, if you would, please approach. Thank you. 

 

Alexis Lunsford: Hi, everyone. Good evening. 

 

Mayor Pierce: Alexa, can you give us your name really quick, and help me out here, Attorney 
Fox, the qualification as an expert witness. 

 

Ms. Fox: I think she’s gonna lead you through her experience. 

 

Mayor Pierce: OK. 

 

Ms. Lunsford: My name is Alexis Lunsford. I'm a realtor with NextHome Cape Fear. I’m also the 
listing agent for the seller of this property, Cindy Workman, property in question. I've been 
actively licensed for six years. I'm a third-generation broker. I ran my grandmother's real estate 
team and did everything for them for seven years prior, so I've been in this business all my life, 
and even when I wasn't actively licensed I was pulling comps, working on negotiations, and all of 
those other things for members of the team. So, reviewing the CUP requirements, I can offer 
information to support the fact that the proposed development will not substantially injure the 
value of surrounding properties and will 100 percent be in harmony with the surrounding area. 
I’m going to provide you with a list of facts in relation to that based on my experience, based on 
tax data, based on multiple listing data. First of all, this is a 1.34-acre lot, and yes, it's in the R-1 
zoning district, but when I researched the island I could only find 29 single-family lots in all of 
Carolina Beach that were one acre or greater, so this is obviously a very odd animal. So I don't 
feel that it should be treated as if it were one typical R-1 5,000- to 7,000-square-foot lot, which 
has been some of the argument, to treat it as one lot. As you know from the presentation, the 
builder's proposal consists of eight single-family units that will contain 1,800 square feet 
approximately of living space and sixteen-hundredths of an acre lots, and so basically I started 
with a large scope on just the R-1 district as a whole, and then I zoomed in on the specific 
surrounding areas. So R-1 as a whole, I looked at the last year, year’s worth of listings. There 
were 319 listings. Some sold. Some didn't. Active, you know, whatever, but listed on the market 
in the last year. Only 33 percent of that entire district were single-family homes, first of all, so 
it's not the primary, you know, what you see in R-1, and then 83 percent of those, the lot sizes 
were sixteen-hundredths of an acre or less, so the other 17 were from twenty-nine-hundredths 
to thirty-seven-hundredths. So again, this is not your typical R-1 lot at 1.34 acres. So from there, 
I went and I looked and scoped in on Olde Mariners Village and Palm Breeze and also the two 
neighboring, 520 and 526 North 7th Street. So if you look at those neighborhoods, Olde 
Mariners has 32 homes; 81 percent of those homes, the lots and the square footage, they both 
equaled out to the same, the lots and the square footage are equal to or less than what is being 
proposed. And when I say less, it's by, you know, a minimal amount, I think around 1,300 square 
feet or so was the smallest in Olde Mariners Way. 
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Council Member Shuttleworth: Let me ask you a question. Equal to as far as the square footage 
of the structure? 

 

Ms. Lunsford: Yes, square footage and lot size.  

 

Council Member Shuttleworth: So the lot size in ancient Mariners, how big are those lots? 

 

Ms. Lunsford: They ranged, well it was 81 percent of them were equal to or less than 1600. 

 

Council Member Shuttleworth: Square feet for the lot?  

 

Ms. Lunsford: Sixteen-hundredths of an acre, yes. So the square footage would be 7,200.  

 

Council Member Shuttleworth: Square footage of the lot would be 7,200 square feet? 

 

Ms. Lunsford: Right. 

 

Council Member Shuttleworth: So it's your contention that each one of these structures would 
have 7,200-square-foot lot? 

 

Ms. Lunsford: That was my understanding from the builder's proposal. Is that correct? That was 
my understanding. Yes, sir. 

 

Mayor Pierce: While you're there, I have a question. Sorry we've got a, we got a little. On Olde 
Mariners Way, are there any houses listed for sale or have recently sold on that street? Are you 
going there? 

 

Ms. Lunsford: Yes, I’m starting with just the scope, the harmony, and then the valuation part.  

 

Mayor Pierce: OK, go ahead. 

 

Ms. Lunsford: Are there any other questions about? 

 

Mayor Pierce: Sorry, we jump ahead. 

 

Ms. Lunsford: That’s OK. You gotta throw a hard ball at me once in a while. 

 

Council Member Shuttleworth: We're just warming up. 

 

Ms. Lunsford: OK, well, I’ll do my best. 

 

 Council Member Shuttleworth: You’re doing great. 

 

Ms. Lunsford: Palm Breeze our next. So we understand that 81 percent basically of Olde 
Mariners Way are comparable to what's being proposed. Then Palm Breeze is a little bit 
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different. It's eight homes only, and like the builder said, with the square footage of 1,800 and 
the lot size, it's even a little bit more comparable to the setup of theirs, but 79 percent of the 
lots there are also equal to or less than the proposed lots, and 71 percent of the home square 
footages in Palm Breeze are equal to or less than. So, I mean, you can't just, you can't get much 
more in harmony than that, and, I mean, the scope of looking at the aerial really puts it into 
perspective. Now if you look at the two on 7th Street, that neighbor of the property, 520 North 
7th and 526 North 7th, they're a little bit different. 520 North 7th street is approximately 2,250 
square feet. I say approximately because I got this from tax and MLS data. I didn't go out there 
and measure it myself. Twenty-four-hundredths of a lot, twenty-four-hundredths of an acre, and 
then 526 7th Street is 2,332 square feet approximately on forty-three-hundredths of an acre. So 
you've got half-acre, quarter-acre houses a little bit bigger than all of the surrounding areas. So 
basically if you take Palm Breeze, both of the 7th Street properties, and Mariners Way and you 
put all of the figures together, then what the builder is proposing in the PUD is in harmony with 
71 percent of the homes in relation to square footage and 79 percent of the homes in relation 
to lot size. 

 

Council Member Shuttleworth: OK, I want to ask you a question. 

 

Ms. Lunsford: Yes. 

 

Council Member Shuttleworth: You took the lot size based on the 58,000 square feet of what 
they're, the total. 

 

Ms. Lunsford: Based on the, say that again. I’m sorry. 

 

Council Member Shuttleworth: According to the land plan, there's 58,271 square feet in this lot. 
If you divide that by eight, that gets you your 7283. 

 

Ms. Lunsford: Uh huh. 

 

Council Member Shuttleworth: But this land plan includes all of the driveway, the cul-de-sac, so 
when you compare ancient Mariners or Palm Breeze, those have lots exclusive of all the 
driveways, all the streets, not the driveways, but the streets. 

 

Ms. Lunsford: OK, I understand what you're saying. 

 

Council Member Shuttleworth: So to get it, to get it apples to apples, you would have to take 
out the driveway and the cul-de-sac to say your net buildable area. 

 

Ms. Lunsford: I do agree with what you're saying, most definitely, and I’m only comparing about 
what the houses will sit on in comparison to the real, the relating neighborhoods. 

 

Council Member Shuttleworth: But they don't sit on that because you have. OK, that's fine. I got 
you. Go ahead. 
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Ms. Lunsford: OK, they would have to help with that because I was told based on their plan that 
it was about that much lot coverage per unit, so maybe we can get them to help. OK, so there 
was an argument that was made to have, you know, less homes on the lot, but, I mean, if you 
did that it would be even in less harmony with the surrounding area than what's already there. 
OK, next I’m going to move on to value. I looked at Olde Mariners Village. There had only been 
two listings that sold listed in the Multiple Listing Service within the last year. One sold for 
365,000, the second sold for 305,000, and both were right about 1,300 square feet and eleven-
hundredths of an acre lot, so smaller lots, smaller homes. 

 

Mayor Pierce: What's the square footage of the houses being proposed? 

 

Ms. Lunsford: 1,800. Footprint 900, I understand, but square footage 1,800, so there's been 
some mix-up about that. Then, Palm Breeze only had one sold that actually just sold last week, 
and it's in the past year, and it was approximately 1,700 square feet on fifteen-hundredths of an 
acre, and it sold for 415,000. So that's your basic sold comps in the general region, but then I 
went and just looked at single-family Carolina Beach the full market for anything comparable to 
these proposed homes based on the specs and other builds and things that I’ve seen. That's just 
what I had to use, so I pulled homes for the last year that were ranging from 1,300 square feet 
to about 1,900 square feet to keep the range in there, and with made sure all the lots were 
smaller than twenty-nine-hundredths of an acre, and the sold range there was from 305, which 
ironically was the one in Olde Mariners Village, up to 509,900. What I found interesting but not 
surprising was that the higher end of that range was all from the new construction that's been 
built on the island similar to what Marlow is proposing, and those ranged from 449 to 509,900, 
and those truly were all the new constructions in that price range. None of the existing 
properties in that square footage range. I’m sure there were other things that sold for more that 
weren't comparable. So basically when you look at all those facts, and I do have, I don't know if 
you’ll let me give it to you, but I do have that listed out front and back if you guys want it. But if 
you look at the current market, it definitely supports, I mean, anywhere from 450 to 490, just 
depending on what he wants to put in it and what his profit margin looks like. And when you 
just look at the overall solds in an area, if you've got comparable housing that's newer and it 
sells for that much higher per square foot, I mean, it's just common sense. Excuse me, but I am a 
realtor. It's common sense to know that the comparable housing would inevitably trend upward 
as well. 

 

Mayor Pierce: Just a question. Did you look down at Island Palms Drive as a comparison as well? 

 

Ms. Lunsford: I didn't. I did see it there, but I just looked at the two that actually joined and the 
overall market, so there could have been some specifically in that neighborhood, but I couldn't 
tell you for certain. 

 

Mayor Pierce: Is there any more questions for this witness? OK, thank you. 

 

Ms. Lunsford: I do, just a, can I just? 

 

Mayor Pierce. Yeah, yeah. 
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Ms. Lunsford: Just one more. I don't want to keep you guys all night, but just a couple more 
things. I understand truly the concern of 520 and 526 North 7th Street because they think if, you 
know, there's a driveway that's coming in between their properties, I respect that and I 
understand that. I'm an original, and I've grown up in and around this island all my life, and so I 
get it, you know. The progress is not always what everybody wants or considers progress, but, 
you know, it is what it is. Those houses were built in 99, 2001 before everything else was 
developed around the property, so when I have buyers that come to this area at Carolina Beach, 
they're not asking me for peace and quiet and no traffic if, you know, paying under the under 
500,000 and even more than that on the island, and if they were I certainly wouldn't send them 
to the R-1 district. I'd put them in R-3, which would be much more appropriate and possibly 
could find some housing that would accommodate that price range. So anyway, I think that's 
something to consider, and it's not, and that's not a driveway. It's going to be a private road. He 
substantially put the landscape buffer. I mean, he just couldn't do much more other than build a 
highway wall, which that wouldn't look good. OK, so last but not least, I just want to say that 
truthfully the bottom line is that the only person on this island really stands to have any 
substantial injury to the value of their property would be my client because this is obviously the 
highest and best use. They've met everything they could within the scope of the law, and while 
it's nobody's fault, she's not here due to health concerns. Her doctor recommended she not be 
here, and while it's no one's fault, sorry, I get a little emotional in this part, it's no one's fault 
that she ran into the situation that she ran into and had to abandon this build. But, you know, 
for her to be penalized and not be able to sell it at its highest and best price, which even at 
where we are now, she's taken a significant financial loss, and that's her loss. She has to incur 
that, but the other neighbors stand to lose property that they don't own in the first place, and I 
would never have expected to build on this island and never have houses on every side of me if 
there was vacant developable land in flood zone X, of all things. I mean, you just ride around the 
island and see that would be ludicrous to assume. So I appreciate you guys hearing me, and if 
you don't have any other questions, I will step down. 

 

Mayor Pierce: Are there any more questions for this witness? Thank you. 

 

Mayor Pierce: Thank you. Ms. Keelin, do you have any other witnesses? 

 

Ms. Keelin: Just myself  

 

Mayor Pierce: OK. 

 

Ms. Keelin: Before I introduce the plats, and thank you for bringing those up Mr. Murphy, I 
would like to, if I can, address the question that came up from Mr. Shuttleworth about the 
comparisons of lot sizes. It's a fair question, and I understand where it's coming from. I will point 
out, though, that this is not a subdivision, so a comparison of lot sizes for a subdivision as 
compared with the CUP for a single 1.34-acre tract, it's not exactly how the ordinance sets forth 
the requirements, and Mr. Murphy, please jump in as the Senior Planner if I am misstating 
something, but my understanding is that each of the specific standards and requirements in 
terms of density, setbacks, open space, and so forth have been exceeded by a very large 
amount, specifically the lot coverage if you look at the 1.3 acres 1.34 acres as an entire lot and 
not as eight separate lots because it's not. The way the ordinance requires that calculation to be 
done, the lot coverage is 12 percent where the ordinance would permit it to be up to 40 
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percent. The open space is 88 percent, whereas it only has to be by ordinance 25 percent. Is that 
accurate based on the ordinance, Mr. Murphy? 

 

Mr. Murphy: Yes, ma'am. 

 

Ms. Keelin: OK, I hope that helps a bit. 

 

Mr. Shuttleworth: It does. I mean, I understand, I understand it was the math. 

 

Ms. Keelin: I understand, too. It was a very valid question, and I’m glad you brought it up. 

 

Mr. Shuttleworth: Your plan, when your plan says you've got R-1 zoning residential lot coverage 
7,200 square feet, it leads one to believe that there's, and so this is more of a, if I understand 
this correctly, this is a PUD where these would be footprints and you're selling a townhome and 
it's going to have an HOA. 

 

Ms. Keelin: That's correct. 

 

Mr. Shuttleworth: OK, so it's just some consistencies, which I’ll get to with staff, but I will give 
you an example. When you start talking about, you call it a street and one exhibit on another it's 
called a driveway, I need to understand from the Town, and I'll ask staff, how many units can 
you have on one driveway because in the past I thought we had a limit of two or three units on a 
driveway, and we had a requirement on a subdivision to have a 50-foot right-of way, so since it's 
not a subdivision this becomes a driveway. How do we get to eight units? And, in fact, the 
applicant, his comments about this, he's got greater width than Mariner or Palms is not 
accurate. The asphalt might be the same, but they have a 50-foot right-of-way, so my question 
would be within the 30-some feet that you have, what are we doing for utilities, water, sewer, 
and stormwater, and how do those easements affect because, as Ms. Fox will tell you, we've 
had numerous projects in the past where we haven't had appropriate utility easements. So I 
have no dispute with the broker's opinion of value. I understand the density question. 

 

Ms. Keelin: Sure. 

 

Mr. Shuttleworth: Just kind of trying to focus and make sure we have some consistency on 
whether it's a street or a driveway. If it's a driveway, how many units, and I’ll get these. And I 
asked staff these questions, which I would read this Council just so everyone had the same 
answers, but so yes, I understand that you were calculating your density based on 8 into the 
58,000 square feet. Not objectionable. 

 

Ms. Keelin: Correct. 

 

Mr. Shuttleworth: Just want to make sure. 

 

Ms. Keelin: And it is not apples to apples. I, I agree with you on that. 
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Mr. Shuttleworth: Well, and I would look at some of those at ancient Mariner. I just did a quick 
check on LandGlide, and some of those are 4,200-square-foot lots. 

 

Ms. Keelin: Um hm. 

 

Mr. Shuttleworth: So, I mean, they're not 8,800 or 72. 

 

Ms. Keelin: Right. I think. 

 

Mr. Shuttleworth: So just trying to understand where we're at. 

 

Ms. Keelin: Understood. Mr. Murphy, would it be possible to go back to the original slide from 
that shows the overall flight plan, the aerial with the flight plan superimposed. From Quinn's. I 
don't want to belabor the point. I mean what you can see there is, you know, there's this aerial 
of the existing Palm Breeze below with the proposed project superimposed above there, and, I 
mean, I think what that tells you basically is just based on visual that there is, you know. 

 

Mr. Shuttleworth: It tells me the asphalt appears to be about the same width. 

 

Ms. Keelin: Well, if you're looking at the asphalt, right. I’ll talk about the density. You can just 
sort of see that regardless of whether you do any sort of calculation on what the square footage 
is, it complies with the ordinance in terms of density, open space, and so forth, and it fits just 
visually. It's virtually identical in terms of the cul-de-sac situation. Palm Breeze Drive obviously is 
a drive, and I understand what you're saying about the width of the actual right-of-way versus 
the asphalt. I think the point that Mr. Marlow was trying to make was that the actual paved 
width of the road that allows the traffic, the two-way traffic to interact is not dissimilar from 
those existing roads. The different question I think you're asking also is where are the utilities 
going to be? 

 

Mr. Shuttleworth: There's multiple questions I have on that. 

 

Ms. Keelin: OK. 

 

Mr. Shuttleworth: And that's fine. I, I understand your point. 

 

Ms. Keelin: Understood. 

 

Mr. Shuttleworth: And I appreciate the artist concept. I do, but I would say that artist concept 
versus this concept shows different parking. I mean, it just shows different, and so we'll get to 
those questions. 

 

Ms. Keelin: OK. 

 

Mayor Pierce: And Steve, are your questions for staff? 

 

Mr. Shuttleworth: They are. 
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Mayor Pierce: So, we'll get there. 

 

Ms. Keelin: OK. 

 

Mayor Pierce: Just a little bit. 

 

Ms. Keelin: Well I will be somewhat brief here, and Miles, if you could go back to the original 
plat. What I'd like to do here is just give you a little foundation so that I can introduce these 
plats as exhibits. This first one is a 1998 plat. It was recorded in the New Hanover County 
Register of Deeds in book, map book 37 at page 377, and this shows that these three lots that 
are numbered one, two, and three here, and I don't know if you can see it, but there is a 15-foot 
access and utility easement shown there on the left side on the north side. Those were the 
original lots that now comprise the right side of this proposed driveway, if you're following me. 
Then the next map, which was recorded in 2004 in map book 46 at page 243, in that particular 
plat these lots were revised and renumbered, and the access easement, the access and utility 
easement was increased from 15 feet to 22 feet, and that access easement there was to serve 
what was called lots 2R and 1R at the time. 2R and 1R now are part of this 1.34-acre tract. If you 
go to the next map, is that right? There is a 2005 recombination plat that's recorded in map 
book 47 at page 391, and this is a recombination of the property on the right side of this 
proposed project. And then finally if you look at the next slide. 

 

Mr. Shuttleworth: Wait, wait. Back up. Just so I am clear on this. 

 

Ms. Keelin: Yes. 

 

Mr. Shuttleworth: Are you're suggesting on this re re combination plat, lot B is now what was 
previously the remainder of 1R and 2R? Is that right from the previous map? 

 

Ms. Keelin: That is correct. 

 

Mr. Shuttleworth: And then they widened the access back there? 

 

Ms. Keelin: Um hm. 

 

Mr. Shuttleworth: Can you go back two maps? 

 

Ms. Keelin: You want to go back to the 22-foot-wide? 

 

Mr. Shuttleworth: Yeah, no you, either one of those. 

 

Ms. Keelin: OK. 

 

Mr. Shuttleworth: So my understanding the way the Town, and Ed has tutored me over the 
years, the way that access easement was allowed for the front lot and the two back there is 
because we were going to allow two residents two structures or two lots. I don't know how 
many structures or how many units, but we were going to allow two access points off of a 
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private access. Right, Ed? They said that the way you've explained it to me that we have a 
private access easement that would allow two, and that would be lot 1R and 2R.  

 

Mr. Parvin: I think that the difference here is you couldn't do this with a subdivision. You could 
with a planned unit development. 

 

Mr. Shuttleworth: You could do what? Have multiple units on a driveway? 

 

Mr. Parvin: Yeah, with the planned unit development you can have one driveway cut multiple 
units. With a subdivision you can’t. 

 

Mr. Shuttleworth: Perfect. Thank you. 

 

Ms. Keelin: The last plat that I wanted to introduce is a 2006 revision and recombination 
recorded in map book 49 at page 361, and that shows the property we can get there as it exists 
today, which is, I think we'll get there. That's all right. I mean, I think you all understand it's a 
1.34-acre tract that has, you know, the drive in the middle, and it was just a combination of all 
of that, and the point being that the property, as Mr. Marlow and Ms. Lunsford testified, was 
not always a single lot or a single tract. It had been envisioned previously as multiple lots in 
multiple tracts, so I don't know that based on that it would not be a reasonable expectation of 
any of the property owners fronting on North 7th Street to expect that there would only be one 
house in the rear because those properties were built before this recombination plat was done. 
So with that, I don't have anything further, but I would like to reserve my opportunity for a 
rebuttal and closing arguments. 

 

Mayor Pierce: Yes, ma'am. We'll call you back for that. 

 

Ms. Keelin: Thank you. 

 

Mayor Pierce: Thank you. OK, at this time we'll ask members of the public who were sworn in 
that want to speak on this development, you would come up one at a time, state your name and 
address, and we'll I’ll ask you to limit your testimony to factual evidence concerning the relevant 
standards. You must present relevant, competent, and material evidence. So whoever wants to 
come first. 

 

Erin Delaney: My name is Erin Delaney. I own the property at 520 7th Street, where the 
easement runs between my house and Ward's house. I am very confused about what is 
happening with the easement because it was an easement. It was a private driveway. Now it's a 
street. It's a two-way street. I don't want a two-way street running between my house and 
Ward's house to eight properties. That is 24 cars. You know, hey that's great. There's no traffic 
now. It’s COVID. Everybody's at home. Everybody's working from home. I'm at home. I'm 
working from home. You know, awesome, great. You know, we're a family of five. On a good 
day, maybe once a week we leave our house in our Suburban. My kid is 16. We're gonna have a 
fourth car. We're playing, we're, you know, when this is all said and done, we're going to be 
moving out and doing this and doing that. That is ridiculous. I had my property surveyed. That 
post is a hog's hair from my stake, which is a foot and a half, maybe two feet, from my fence. I 
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have a pool. I don't want evergreens up against my fence. I have a pool. I don't want roots. I 
don't want limbs. I don't want trees. We've had three hurricanes, named hurricanes. I don't 
want big tree damage. I don't. You know, this is my investment. This is my home. I don't know 
anybody that buys a home thinking, you know, oh hey, look at this great easement. We're going 
to have eight homes and potentially 24 cars coming in and out. You know Palm Breeze Drive? 
Hey, great. They have setbacks. You know Joyce and Mike, my neighbors? They have 12 feet. 
Norma, she's further set back, and her house is like my house where it's on the side, and if I may 
show you what I'm referring to, you know, this is this is Norma's house. This is the front of her 
house. This is the side of her house. This is her driveway. This is Mike and Joyce's house. This is 
my house right here, OK. You know, I don't have feet. There are more feet between these chairs 
than that easement and my property line, and I just, I just can't. I'm very upset about this, very 
emotional about this. Now, I actually like Quinn. Quinn did work on our house. I recommended 
Quinn. You know, I mean, I know he builds good structures. I'm actually wondering why he 
wouldn't have knocked on the door and said, ‘Hey, John and Erin.’ You know, the man sat at my 
table and had tried my mom's balsamic pork roast, her beef roast or something. You remember. 
You know, I mean, I don't want the noise. I don't want people randomly walking through. I want 
the land to be developed, but I live at 520. Ward is 526. So in harmony with my neighborhood, 
which is me and Ward, not streets off of 7th. That means it's 522 and 524 with nice big homes 
on big lots that are in harmony with my property and Ward's property. Would y’all buy my 
house if it were for sale, knowing that a two-lane easement, private drive, street, whatever 
you're calling it, is gonna be put in there with eight homes? Would you? Could you do that in 
good conscience? No real estate agent is gonna tell me that I'm gonna get, you know, $550,000 
from my home with that going in. I don't want that single family home back there. I do not want 
the porta-potty a foot and a half from my fence that blows over in the storms, that homeless 
people use, that random people walk back there just to be nosy. I don't want it. I don't deserve 
it. I support the community. I pay my taxes. I saved to buy within my means, and, you know, I 
want something back. Ward deserves something back. You know, we don't have to stuff every 
single square foot of this island for tax purposes. The lots on 7th Street are big. Those planned 
communities, they can be stuffed in there. That's not my neighborhood. They're not located on 
7th Street. They are off of 7th Street. You know that my property value will decrease. I just, you 
know, I, you know, the only solace I have is that I know Quinn will build a beautiful home, and 
it's not personal, Quinn. It really isn't. It, you know, it is business, and it is the business of my 
investment of my home because everybody buys property as an investment to appreciate. 

 

Mayor Pierce: Does Council have any questions for this witness? 

 

Ms. Delaney: And I invite y’all to come over and look. Come. I'll give you a tour of the easement. 
I'll show you my property line. There's stakes in it and where they want to build and where my 
fence is and where my pool is. I already have to get a new liner from the roots that were coming 
in from behind me, you know. HOA gonna pay for that? 

 

Mayor Pierce: I think you'll hear some discussions about that driveway when we, when we get 
to staff. I think you'll hear some more discussions about that. 

 

Ms. Delaney: Thank you for listening, and I’m sorry to be emotional, but this is my home and I 
love it. 
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Mayor Pierce: We understand. Next. 

 

Ward Basinger: I’m Ward Basinger. I’m 526 North 7th Street. I'm with Erin on this whole deal. 
My first house was at 507 North 7th Street, and that was the end of the road. My parents give to 
Town Hall the easement, the road all the way from 507 North 7th Street all the way to the Town 
Hall right here on the back side. I wish she wouldn't have done it now; we wouldn't even be in 
here. And then, you know, we did have to sell some land after some when he passed and 
everything, and when I sold that half-acre behind me where they making it so big, but it ain't 
numbered a half-acre, we all talked about just having a couple, three houses, three nice houses. 
That's why you don't need a highway or a drive, you know. It's an easement. It ain't a driveway. 
It’s an easement. if you get 30 feet or 35 feet, you're gonna have to move a telephone pole, a 
bunch of subpoles, water, two water and sewers, cable, everything else, and the only way you 
can move it is on my property, and I don't want it on my property. It's on the property line now. 
If you go to look at it, pull your tape. I just did it about three hours now. I don't want no 
sidewalks there either. You know, people walking by, the flip-flops on, you know. I like to really 
on weekends, if I ain't fishing or something, I like to relax, and, you know, you built the garage 
for the Town Hall, and now you got a North End trash truck coming by there about three times a 
day, about five times a day on weekends, that's added to the, you know, all the traffic. We just 
don't need no more traffic. You know, build some nice homes in there, a couple, three maybe, 
and call it good times. If you can't do it, leave it, leave it to lie. That's about all I got. 

 

Mayor Pierce: Does Council have any questions for this witness? OK. 

 

Mark Campbell: Hi, my name is Mark Campbell, and I live at 105 Palm Breeze Drive. If you guys 
could show that overhead view of the proposed development, CUP revised one. I want to show 
you where I live so I can give you some perspective.  

 

Mr. Murphy: That was not part of staff's presentation.  

 

Mayor Pierce: I think we have it here. Is this, I think this is what he's referring to. This one. Yes, 
that's right. It was in your presentation. 

 

Mr. Campbell: Yeah, so my house is right here, 105 Palm Breeze. This isn’t what it looks like. 
These trees are not there. The hurricanes, they got what was left of those. OK, those are all 
gone. These two proposed houses, there's 13 feet between the end of this house and the 
property line, and I think the builder mentioned that. 

 

Mr. Parvin: She’s got a microphone, if you want to. I actually have a pointer over here. If you just 
click that, that middle button right here. 

 

Mr. Campbell: So there’s 13 feet between the back of two small homes. 

 

Mayor Pierce: If you would, sir, just speak, speak into the microphone so the people listening 
online can hear you and we can record. 

 

Mr. Campbell: I’m a teacher. You think I would know better. 
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Mayor Pierce: I know.  

 

Mr. Campbell: 50 years retired teacher. I still can’t do this. Anyway, 13 feet behind from the 
bottom from the base of this house here and the property line and my, I don't know what the 
builder was talking about large backyards. Look at my backyard and look at Ann’s backyard, the 
white house next to me. They're small backyards, and they're very close to these proposed 
houses. My biggest objection is three small houses right there don't seem to fit with the 
neighborhood or with the development itself. They're just kind of crammed in there. I don't 
know why. Probably profit, I don't know, more houses, more money. So that's my biggest 
objective. There'll be right next, there'll be two-story houses. There'll be right behind my house, 
and of course it's just obvious that more people means more dense, more houses means more 
density, means more noise, means more light pollution, which means more traffic. And, you 
know, if you want to take scientific evidence, I think the builder said he went down there to 
observe the cars. He's biased, number one. How scientific was that? What time of the day did he 
go? And we got a COVID going on. Nobody's driving anywhere, so throw that one out all 
together. My wife and I, Jenny, were the first ones to move into Palm Breeze neighborhood, and 
we moved into it because it was a very beautiful natural area. That big lot behind us that they're 
going to be building on used to be filled with natural trees and live oaks. When the lady came in, 
she just mowed all that down. It was all gone all, right, which left our trees. I had two more big 
trees fall on my air conditioning unit this weekend, so, you know, cutting down all those trees 
had an impact during the hurricane. So, Miles, when you mentioned that you're recommending 
this project and the original plan was for 20 duplexes or whatever it was how many duplexes, 
that was voted down, you forgot to mention that was voted down by the Planning and Zoning 
Commission because there was such a large outcry, and the second Planning and Zoning 
meeting also recommended it didn't pass, so they were listening to the people who actually live 
there but don't have something to gain from it, whether it be a lawyer or a real estate agent or a 
builder. People actually have to live in this area and, you know, feel like the nature or reason we 
moved there is going to be gone. I did a little bit of research because I knew I was going to be 
getting up here and I want to have some evidence, so, I mean, I’m retired, but I’m working 40 
hours a week anyway and I had a little bit of time. The average size of the smaller lots, as I 
understand it from my math, which might be poor, is about 5,600 square feet. The average size 
of the adjacent Palm Breeze neighborhood lots is 6,800 square feet, so you know those smaller 
lots are the biggest problems. They don't, I mean, just look at it. Look at the density in that 
corner compared to the homes in the Palm Breeze neighborhood right behind them. That 
doesn't fit in with the natural, you know, neighborhood look. I looked in a study by New 
Geography magazine that said traffic congestion increases whenever high-density policies are 
imposed wherever you are in the world. According to a 2019 article in Urban magazine, the 
presence of green spaces and urban planning and buildings helps reduce the city's temperature 
by an average of one degree. Plants and trees also act like a filter for harmful air pollutants. And, 
you know, leaving that place as a green space would be the best thing, but at least getting rid of 
those three small homes would help the situation, right, and if he's going to plant these trees, 
what's to say they're not going to be knocked down in a hurricane, and then the builders, I 
mean, the people that move into these homes, are they going to put those back up? Is there any 
requirement you have to put trees back up if they're knocked down? I don't think so. Just one or 
two more things. We don't have a lawyer to represent us. We're just the people who have to 
live here in this neighborhood, but I’ll tell you what. We're overwhelmingly against this. There's 
no doubt about it, and, you know, we're the ones that have to. I love some of the things you 
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guys have been doing with the bike paths and, you know, the green belt area over there, but 
this is a step in the wrong direction. This is more concrete and mortar. It does not fit in with the 
look of the neighborhood, and I really beg you to vote this down, OK? Thank you. 

 

Mayor Pierce: Are there any questions for this witness? OK. 

 

Norma Weeks: Hi, my name is Norma Weeks, and can you hear me OK? 

 

Mayor Pierce: Yes, ma'am. 

 

Ms. Weeks: And I live at 516 North 7th, and I’m gravely concerned about this proposal. My main 
concern is the increased traffic that this project will bring, in this case adding a minimum of 24 
vehicles to an already busy street, and it is a busy street. The three neighborhoods on these two 
blocks of North 7th Street make for a lot of traffic daily, but the street is also used by the Town's 
maintenance vehicles and others, which go back and forth all day long. Not only does this 
scenario make up for a very dense and noisy neighborhood It will be more dangerous for folks 
who are out biking, walking, walking their dogs. I am a lifelong resident of Carolina Beach, and as 
such, I have a vested interest in this Town. Over the years, my husband and I built three 
residences in Carolina Beach. We raised our three children here and owned and operated three 
businesses. I’ve loved living here since the days of the one traffic light. Members of the Town 
Council, please put a stop to this proposal and others like it. Let’s slow down and think about the 
safety and well-being of the residents and decide whether it would be an asset or a detriment to 
our Town. Thank you. 

 

Mayor Pierce: Are there any questions for Ms. Weeks? Thank you for coming. Anyone else 
would like to speak? 

 

Roshell Heckendorf: My name is Roshell Heckendorf. I live in the Palm Breeze neighborhood as 
well, 116 Palm Breeze.  

 

Ms. Fox: Will you pull that mic down please?  

 

Ms. Heckendorf: Is that better? 

 

Ms. Fox: Yes, thank you. 

 

Ms. Heckendorf: So some of the questions that I have are actually about the specs themselves of 
it.  These houses are expected to be around 1,800 square feet. That doesn't include the garage, 
from what I understand, so you're going to take some of that off your square footage, and 
there's no room for expansion in these houses. Currently there are 56 houses in the Olde 
Mariners, 7th Street, Palm Breeze, Island Palms subdivisions. Of these houses, seven are on a 
slab, which is what these are proposed to be. The rest are on pilings and not in a flood zone, so 
they have the potential to be expanded on below for additional square footage or they already 
have been expanded and have additional square footage included in that. So given that, these 
houses actually are going to be smaller potentially in the long term, and my question is how will 
that not adversely affect our property values? Another concern I have is with the lot size. There 
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seems to be a big focus on the 15 houses on an acre, but what isn't figured in is the access to 
these houses. Since the property's landlocked, a good chunk of the property is a road or 
driveway, and there's no way around it. According to the Carolina Beach Municipal Code Article 
3 Section 40-66, the right-of-way, public or private, for streets and roads shall not be considered 
a part of a wider open space. The application says that open space is 88 percent, but nowhere in 
the square footage is the percentage of the roadway or driveway mentioned. It seems that 
that's included as part of the open space. Is this allowable? Is that something that can be 
considered?  

 

Mr. Murphy: It's included, and I'll answer further staff questions later, but is included in the 
overall. They exceed the 25 percent regardless of the driveway component  

 

Ms. Heckendorf: OK, all right. But is pavement included as lot coverage? 

 

Mr. Murphy: It’s lot coverage? No, ma’am. It’s structures over 30 inches in height. 

 

Ms. Heckendorf: OK. 

 

Mayor Pierce: I’m sure that Miles is taking notes on questions that you guys have, so when we 
go back to staff he'll answer those questions. 

 

Ms. Heckendorf: That’s excellent. And then it also says that the houses have 5,000-square-foot 
minimum lots, so there are no lot lines on those, but I did use a measuring tool in Adobe and on 
the scale drawing provided and in the application and just based it on the fence lines. Only three 
of the lots have more than 5,000 square feet when you do the markings on the drawings, so I 
wonder are they figuring the pond and the road is a common area for that or is that added to 
this is that going to add to the square footage to make that 5,000 square feet, and if that is the 
case, how do these houses, in fact, have their own lots? 

 

Council Member Shuttleworth: So they, just to help you on that, that was my question. These 
are going to be townhomes, and so what happens is you have one big lot, 58,000 square feet, 
and then they'll get a footprint deeded to them as a townhome. That's typically how that would 
be done, so the footprint may be 900 square feet or thereabouts. It may include their driveway, 
so they would own, you know, 1A or 2A or 3A or whatever it is, but it's going to be a planned 
unit development, so you have one parcel and then you have a footprint for each one of those. 
The owner would own everything underneath their structure. Everything else is going to be a 
common area, so the common area would include the pond, anything that's not covered with an 
individual structure. The common area, I'm guessing what Miles is going to tell us, is that 
includes all of the pavement that will be maintained by the HOA. What Miles has said is that 
they still they meet their open space of green by 22 or 25 percent. If you add all the asphalt and 
everything else they're at 88 percent. I agree. You take that out, they actually have enough open 
space, but you're on the right track. 

 

Ms. Heckendorf: OK, but they're single-family homes, not townhouses, correct? 

 

Mayor Pierce: We’ll answer that.  
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Mr. Murphy: They are single-family homes. A townhome means using it as a legal description as 
opposed to a description of the units themselves. These are single-family. 

 

Mr. Shuttleworth: It’ll be a single-family home, and they'll own their footprint. 

 

Ms. Heckendorf: OK, all right. I just wanted to make sure I understood that correctly. And then, I 
guess my concern is too is upon resale how will that work and be in our favor since they don't 
actually truly seem to own the same chunk of property that these other subdivisions do? I mean, 
that's gotta affect property values. 

 

Council Member Shuttleworth: I'm not an attorney, so I would have to defer to our Town 
Attorney or someone else if you want to explain it or not. 

 

Ms. Fox: I was just going to remind everybody that testimony has to be on the four general and 
seven specific standards and that you are speaking at public comment, so direct your questions 
to Council and then staff will follow up with them. 

 

Ms. Heckendorf: OK, all right. Thank you. Sorry about that. And then that was my question 
about that, and then the other question I have is the driveways. It didn't show the specs on all of 
the driveways for all of the different develop, for all of the different houses. It just did on the 
first three. Those do seem to have the allotted amount, but on four of the five driveways didn't 
show measurements. Again, I used that Adobe tool to get it, and they're less than 20 feet in 
length, and you can even look and see how short those driveways are compared to other 
driveways. They're less than 20 feet in length. A standard-bed crew cab pickup truck is over 20 
feet long, so how, are pickups going to be banned through this, or how do they park without 
creating a safety hazard by being in the street? I guess we'll, does that meet the criteria for 
sufficient parking that's required? 

 

Mayor Pierce: So we'll have Miles address all those questions that you have when we go back to 
staff. 

 

Ms. Heckendorf: OK, excellent. And, I mean, I've heard that Marlow Construction does quality 
work, and I hope they can do it in there. I just feel like there's a lot of unanswered questions at 
this point, and from what I understand there aren't any other developed single-family 
developments quite like this in Carolina Beach, so that being said, this decision sets a precedent 
for future development, and I just ask that the Town Council gets answers to these questions 
before they let this go through. And that's all I have. 

 

Mayor Pierce: Does Council have any questions for this witness? OK, thank you. 

 

Ms. Heckendorf: Thank you.  

 

Mayor Pierce: Anyone else? 
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Mary Jean Aydelotte: My name is Mary Jean Aydelotte, and I live at 106 Island Palms Drive. I 
can't say too much more than anyone else has. My point was also that this development sets a 
precedent that I haven't seen in all of Carolina Beach. I've only lived here at four and a half years 
now, but I've driven all over the island and I see nowhere else where a private driveway services 
eight single-family homes in one spot, and I feel like that is not in keeping with the harmony of 
the area. I also am concerned about the fact that they've said there's no signage proposed at the 
moment. I would hope that if this does go through that they would at least propose a stop sign 
at the end of a driveway where 24 cars are going to go in and out. I don't know whether there's 
going to be a name for this particular road or if anybody's going to even have an easy time 
finding it off of 7th Street, as it is sandwiched between two other homes. I really came in 
support of people in my neighborhood, of Ward and Erin who live on either side of this 
driveway, and I hope that the Council will consider that they are setting precedent for a 
driveway servicing eight single-family homes when this hasn't been done, to my knowledge, 
before in Carolina Beach. Thank you. 

 

Mayor Pierce: Does Council have any questions for this witness? OK, thank you, ma'am. Is there 
anyone else who'd like to speak? OK, Ms. Keelin, for your closing arguments. 

 

Ms. Keelin: Well first of all, thank you all for your for your time and patience and obviously good 
attention to all of this, as I can see, and I appreciate all the comments that have been made by 
various members of the public who have an interest in this project. As I said that I was going to 
do, I want to go ahead and formally ask that all of these slides and other documents that have 
been presented, including the agenda packet, be formally accepted into the record. Would also 
ask that Ms. Lundsten’s testimony evaluation be accepted as expert testimony. I believe she 
adequately laid a foundation for her qualifications. And also to renew my objection to the 
testimony that did consist of, and I'm not diminishing it, but that consisted of emotional and 
fear-based and speculative concerns. Again, I’m not diminishing it. I’m a person who has a 
home, and I understand all of that, but this is a quasi-judicial proceeding in which there are 
specific requirements that the law requires that have been stated and reiterated by our courts 
multiple times, as I mentioned, most recently in a pretty significant case in April of 2020. So, 
although I certainly don't want to diminish any concerns, it is the law that, again, fear-based 
speculative opinion-based testimony about what could happen is not something that can be 
considered. So you have heard interestingly from some of the opposition that Marlow 
Construction does have a stellar reputation who is known to build quality products, and I think 
that's interesting and I think that that is testimony that we had not even presented, but it has 
been presented to you. He is willing to exceed existing requirements for development of this 
tract of land. If this project isn't approved, and I believe that it needs to be based on the law, 
somebody's going to come behind Marlow Construction Company, and eventually something's 
going to be developed there, and it may or may not be with someone who has the type of 
quality reputation that Mr. Marlow has with his company. It may or may not be someone who is 
willing to listen to concerns and accommodate those. The evidence that you've heard from Mr. 
Miles, from Ms. Lundsten, from Mr. Marlow, and from myself does constitute competent, 
material, and substantial evidence regarding each of the specific standards and the general 
standards. I’m not going to repeat all of that, but I just want to point out some of the larger 
pieces of that. I know you're going to have more conversation about the street, the road, the 
driveway, the easement. The reality factually is that it is wide enough, the pavement is wide 
enough to accommodate two-way traffic. There is a cul-de-sac similar to Palm Breeze that 
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accommodates emergency vehicle turnaround. In that regard, it has satisfied the requirement. 
The applicant is not required to anticipate or disprove every single general consideration that 
could come up. They're not required to negate every possible objection to a proposed use. What 
the applicant is required to do is address what the ordinance requires. It's not a public comment 
period on whether the policy is appropriate. It's not a public comment period on whether or not 
this property should or should not be within a conditional-use permit district. It is. It is, so if this 
Council is satisfied that the testimony and evidence that has been presented tends to show that 
compliance and also believes that the opposing testimony is not sufficient to counter it, then the 
permit needs to be issued. Again, we've talked about some of the concerns that have been 
raised. I know there was confusion regarding whether or not this is a subdivision and has to 
meet subdivision requirements. It is not. it's clearly not a subdivision. It's a planned unit 
development. Planned unit development has different requirements. There's no 5 000-square-
foot lot requirement because there are it's not going to be divided into lots. If that were to come 
before you, that would be a whole different set of requirements, but that's not the case here. To 
the extent that there has been confusion about that, I hope I hope that clears it up, and I do 
appreciate Mr. Shuttleworth, your sort of recitation of what this will look like. These are single-
family residences. To all outward appearances, there's no different than difference than walk 
driving into a regular subdivision. It's a legal term, and correctly there's a homeowners 
association that would be developed that would have responsibility for the road, responsibility 
for any street lights, responsibility for the stormwater pond, all of those things. And again, this is 
permitted under the existing zoning ordinance so long as these conditions are satisfied. Some 
concerns that have been expressed previously in Planning and Zoning meetings, which I'm 
saying this not for your benefit but makes for the benefit of maybe others who are listening, the 
Planning and Zoning Commission doesn't, of course, have the authority to approve or deny 
something. It's an advisory board, and so to the extent that they made recommendations, that's 
what they were, so obviously this Council is the body charged with making this actual decision. 
We talked about a new fire hydrant will be installed, another safety requirement that would be 
satisfied. We talked about a central location for mail pickup that had been a concern that was 
addressed. Trash pickup will be at each individual residence, just like the neighbors and the 
trash receptacles will be shielded from view. Those are things in excess of what is required but 
things that this applicant is willing to do. There is evidence tending to show that the project will 
not materially endanger the public health or safety, that it meets all the required conditions and 
specifications, that it will not substantially injure the value of adjoining or abutting property, and 
let me pause on that one. I understand that there is speculation that things may happen in the 
future, but you have heard no evidence, no factual evidence, no expert opinion evidence that 
any damage would happen to these neighboring properties, and that is the requirement, so it's 
not appropriate to consider speculation or lay opinion. And you also heard evidence that the 
location and character of the use will be in harmony in which this area is where it's located in 
general conformity with the Town Land Use Plan. All the setback requirements are met or 
exceeded. All buffer requirements are met or exceeded. You saw from the aerial photographs 
what this property looks like above. You've seen the site plan. You've heard the testimony of Mr. 
Murphy that, maybe twice or three times now, that lot coverage, and again this is based on 
these regulations and ordinances, not on subdivisions, the lot coverage is much less than the 40 
percent that is allowed. The open space is much less than the 25 percent that is allowed, and 
theoretically, if all requirements were met, 20 units could be built on this 1.34-acre tract, so this 
applicant has met its burden of production. He's entitled to the permit. There has been no 
competent, material, or substantial evidence tending to support a different outcome, and we 
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just respectfully request and submit that this applicant is entitled to have the permit issued. 
There any questions? 

 

Mayor Pierce: Any questions for Ms. Keelin? Thank you. 

 

Ms. Keelin: Thank you very much for your time and consideration. 

 

Mayor Pierce: And I see Miles is ready to speak, so, Council, if we have questions for staff, or 
you want to let him present some of these questions?  

 

Council Member Shuttleworth: I think we close the public hearing and then we go to the 
discussion. Is that the right? 

 

Ms. Fox: Yeah, you can close the public hearing but leave the evidentiary hearing open. 

 

Mayor Pierce: Yeah. 

 

Ms. Fox: So that Miles’ testimony if you have additional questions it would have to be 
considered evidence. 

 

Mayor Pierce: OK. 

 

Council Member Shuttleworth: Sounds good. 

 

Mr. Murphy: Well I don't have additional presentation. I'm just. 

 

Mayor Pierce: Do you have any of the questions that the public asked, any answers to any of 
those questions? 

 

Mr. Murphy: Well, I've already addressed some of them out of order. I should have waited for 
this time, and I do apologize for that. One of the biggest has been, I believe, addressed by Mr. 
Marlow's attorney as well as Mr. Shuttleworth, that this is a planned unit development and not 
a subdivision. There are no individual lots. This is not a town or private right-of-way. This is a 
driveway for a planned unit development. It meets the requirements for two-way traffic, and 
they meet the open space and lot coverage requirements for a general zoning for the general 
zoning of the R-1 zoning district, but it is not the same as if they were all being divided into 
individual lots like a subdivision. I think that's one of the biggest confusions over this overall 
process. Now most of the planned unit developments we see in this Town are two-unit 
developments, such as the recent approval for the business planned unit development at 1012 
Lake Park Boulevard South, as well as the three, well technically three-structure six-unit 
residential planned unit development that took place on Carolina Beach Avenue North. So most 
of them are of a smaller scale, but we have several planned unit developments around the 
Town. It's simply that this is a, as Mr. Marlow's real estate witness testified, is a very large, 
unusual parcel that is being treated according to the requested permissions for a planned unit 
development as opposed to a subdivision. I’m happy to answer any further questions, but I 
believe that was. 
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Mayor Pierce: So, Miles, I have a question about what would the speed limit be and who would 
set that speed limit for that? It, would there be a speed limit, and would there be a stop sign? 

 

Mr. Murphy: There would absolutely be a stop sign to exit and enter that neighborhood. We 
can't, it would be up to the Council's discretion as to whether we'd want to require one on 7th 
for traffic going in either opposite in the perpendicular directions. The speed limit would be up 
to the HOA, though. It's a private driveway. If they wanted to issue it a neighborhood HOA 
speed limit, they absolutely could. 

 

Council Member Shuttleworth: So, Miles, can you give me an example of another driveway that 
has a stop sign? 

 

Mr. Murphy: Completely honest, sir, I cannot in Carolina Beach. 

 

Council Member Shuttleworth: I can’t think of another driveway that has a stop sign. Can you 
tell me where the water and sewer utilities are going to run in this driveway? 

 

Mr. Murphy: My understanding is that they're going to be going through the edge of the 
driveway themselves. 

 

Council Member Shuttleworth: So do we have a 30-foot easement for utilities? I know when we 
did The Grove we ran into some problems back there, and Gil came back and wanted a 30-foot 
sewer easement because he had to put a sewer line in the ground, and he wanted to be able to 
put a truck 15 feet on each side of that. I think we negotiated a 20-foot easement, but there has 
to be a utility easement. So if you have 32 feet and 22 of it is asphalt, technically, Mark, you 
want to come up and tell me where you think you're going to put water and sewer utilities?  

 

Mark Meyer: Technically I can’t answer that question. Sorry. 

 

Council Member Shuttleworth: OK, next question I have, Miles, as I was reading in there, there's 
something about a, is it a grinder? Talk to me about the sewer. Was it a grinder pump that we're 
going to do and do a low pressure into a one sewer line that each one of these units? I'm just 
curious on how the utilities are going to serve this lot. OK, and then I would also ask you, I 
understand they don't have a stormwater permit yet, but when you look at this pond, there has 
to be an outfall. There is no public stormwater on 7th Street, so where do you think that 
outfall’s going to go because having done research before on this property, there is no good 
outfall for this stormwater. So, I mean, maybe you or Ed or Jeremy can tell me. I know they have 
to go get a stormwater permit. They can't move forward without it, but. 

 

Mr. Murphy: Well there are aspects of this design which may cause them to diminish in size 
based on stormwater requirements and utility requirements. They're coming in for the site plan 
approval for the maximum. 

 

Council Member Shuttleworth: During the TRC process, did you not ask them where they 
anticipated an outfall because there is no public stormwater on 7th Street, so putting it all in a 
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pond over here and then piping it somewhere, they can't pipe it to 7th Street. The map doesn't 
show a proposed easement for stormwater, so I’m trying to understand where you think having 
approved this through TRC and you guys, all the technical people looked at it, where you think. I 
know the size of the pond. They'll have to go through state calculations. They're going to have to 
say this is our impervious. This is why the pond size that way, but just a general look at it. Where 
do we think it's going to outfall? 

 

Mr. Murphy: To be completely honest, I'm a zoning official giving this presentation. 

 

Council Member Shuttleworth: Fair enough. 

 

Mr. Murphy: Cannot get into the stormwater specifics. That'd be Mr. Stanberry or Mr. 
Dudenhaver.  

 

Mayor Pierce: So. 

 

Council Member Shuttleworth: However, as the Planning Department, you were in charge of 
going through the TRC process and approving a TRC plan and making comments, so I would have 
thought during the TRC process at the Planning Department you guys would have asked for 
input from those departments. 

 

Mr. Murphy: We did ask for input, and the input was that they would require a state stormwater 
permit, which would control the nature of this development moving forward and that the 
development might change in size or orientation in a smaller manner based on the feedback 
from state stormwater for that design, but Jeremy might be able to comment further on that. 

 

Mayor Pierce: So, just a comment based on what Steve just said. It's very difficult when Council 
gets to this point and what you're recommending approval and we're assuming that all that 
work has been done and that you're recommending this project for approval, but we still seem 
to have a lot of questions about will it work as presented or not. 

 

Jeremy Hardison (Planning Director): At this point, this is not a fully engineered project. You're 
approving a site plan, and one of the conditions is a state stormwater permit that has to meet 
certain specifications. This was presented as a self-contained stormwater pond that would have 
to meet those certain aspects. 

 

Council Member Shuttleworth: So your anticipation is it's an infiltration pond. It's going to 
collect the water and infiltrate and not just not leave the site? 

 

Mr. Hardison: But this is what the engineer designed, but yes, sir. 

 

Ms. Fox: So just a reminder that when you approve or then that will, when you approve a 
conditional-use permit, this one or other, that the applicant has to then meet all these 
requirements that are mandated by state, so this is not a site-specific development plan that 
you're looking at. So they're going to have to get a storm, they're going to have to get approval 
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from the stormwater folks. They're going to have to get approval from the Town if they need the 
easements for. 

 

Council Member Shuttleworth: So, Madam Attorney, I'm confused by that statement. I thought 
this was a site-specific plan that we are approving. It shows eight footprints. 

 

Ms. Fox: This is a planned unit development, so this is not a, Ed, could you, Ed, you wanna jump 
in? But this is not. 

 

Council Member Shuttleworth: I understand that they have to meet the stormwater. I get that, 
but we've gone through a gyration here for eight months on this project with staff, with 
residents, with Mr. Marlow, and to have a critical element that's glaring out there, and staff's 
aware of that issue. That's my point. Staff's been aware of a stormwater issue on this project for 
a period of time, so I I'd want at some point I would like to hear from someone on staff that’s 
sworn in or get them sworn in. When I read the comments about a sewer system out here, we 
fought awful hard on the other projects right back over here because the Town historically 
hasn't had the appropriate easements to maintain our infrastructure. So if it's a private driveway 
and we're going to put public utilities in that driveway, is it outside of the pavement? Is it an 
easement? What's the width of it? I mean, I think those are legitimate, factual questions on a 
site plan that we're looking at. I'm not saying they can't be accommodated. I'm just saying I 
don't see the answers here, especially if you're putting 6 feet of buffer on both sides. 

 

Ms. Fox: Well let's get you the answers. 

 

Council Member Shuttleworth: OK, and I have another question. 

 

Ms. Fox: So if you could swear in. 

 

Mayor Pierce: Hang on. 

 

Ms. Fox: And the Council wants to hear from. 

 

Council Member Shuttleworth: You have a 4-foot sidewalk on either side of the drive aisle along 
the 7th Street right-of-way. Can you explain to me, are we you running a sidewalk on this private 
driveway or are you running it toward? 

 

Mayor Pierce: Hang on one second, Steve. Who’s not been sworn in? Why don't you swear in 
the rest of the staff you want to talk to? That good? 

 

Ms. Fox: If the applicant’s attorney doesn’t have an objection to these witnesses being called. 

 

Mayor Pierce: Oh, sorry. 

 

Ms. Keelin: No objection from us. 

 

Mayor Pierce: I don't think Council is clear unless we get that. 
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Council Member Shuttleworth: Am I making a mountain out of a molehill? Do you guys? 

 

Mayor Pierce: Well, we’re dependent on staff. OK, so who do you want to talk to, Steve? 

 

Mr. Parvin: I can start it. 

 

Mayor Pierce: OK, great. 

 

Mr. Parvin: Mayor, Council, what you have before you is a zoning site plan approval and, we 
typically do these conditional-use permits, when you when you're approving a conditional-use 
permit we do go through a TRC process and we do look at some of the basics for water, sewer, 
stormwater that we're having discussions about, but the only thing the applicant is required to 
provide in this process is the zoning, approve of the zoning requirements. They're not required 
to go through, as the attorney’s point now, all the nuances of the water, sewer, stormwater. We 
do talk to them about what that's going to look like, so that is something that we've had 
discussions, but there will be a condition, one of the conditions of the CUP is they will have to 
get all those state, local, or federal permits and make sure that that is in compliance with the 
overall zoning approval. So that, all those all those nuances will be addressed and is addressed in 
your conditional-use permit. 

 

Council Member Shuttleworth: Ed, who issues our water and sewer permits? Are these County 
permits or City of Town of Carolina Beach permits for water and sewer? 

 

Mr. Parvin: For the Town?  

 

Council Member Shuttleworth: The water and sewer. They're town permits, so the Town's going 
to approve the design. Is that right?  

 

Mr. Parvin: Right. 

 

Council Member Shuttleworth: OK, stormwater. I saw in here you said they have to get a state 
stormwater permit. Is that because we're over a certain size or has Brian decided he wanted to 
go get help because he's approved other projects that are this much internally, so is there a 
reason why you said he has to get a state stormwater permit because we issue our own 
stormwater first? 

 

Mr. Hardison: It’s a state stormwater is permit would be required because of the scope of the 
project. Now we do have the authority as a Town given us to the state to issue a state 
stormwater permit. 

 

Council Member Shuttleworth: And 90 percent of the permits that we issue in Carolina Beach 
for stormwater are issued by us on a state permit. Is that right? I mean, very rarely. 

 

Mr. Hardison: Majority. Yes, sir. 
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Mayor Pierce: So, well, we’re not in deliberations, so we’ll get there. Are there any other 
questions for staff? Did you have a question for Mark? 

 

Council Member Shuttleworth: My question was on the sewer. What was I reading in there 
about the sewer and a grinder pump or a pump system? That, to me, would denote that we 
have some kind of private infrastructure. 

 

Mayor Pierce: And, Mark, for the public, can you tell them who you are, what you do for the 
Town? 

 

Mr. Meyer: Mark Meyer, Director of Public Utilities, Town of Carolina Beach. From the depth of 
the sewer main on 7th Street that it would require them to have individual or a single pump 
station or individual grinders at each home and then have a private force main out to 7th Street. 

 

Council Member Shuttleworth: Right.  

 

Mr. Meyer: To meet the manhole. 

 

Council Member Shuttleworth: Which is a perfectly acceptable design.  

 

Mr. Meyer: Yes. 

 

Council Member Shuttleworth: It's done all over the county. It's done in Brunswick County. It's 
not uncommon. I just want to make sure we understand. 

 

Mr. Meyer: Yes, sir. 

 

Council Member Shuttleworth: So that would be a private sewer line. 

 

Mr. Meyer: Yes. 

 

Council Member Shuttleworth: All the way out to the public. 

 

Mr. Meyer: Yes, sir. 

 

Council Member Shuttleworth: So there would not necessarily be the need for the Town to go in 
and repair that sewer line. 

 

Mr. Meyer: You are correct. 

 

Council Member Shuttleworth: How about the water?  

 

Mr. Meyer: The water, if this were to be a private driveway, we would put a bank of water 
meters at the edge of 7th Street, and they would be required to run the services to the 
individual homes. We would not. 
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Council Member Shuttleworth: So you would put seven water lines down that driveway? Eight? 

 

Mr. Meyer: Three-quarter, 1-inch lines. That's not unheard of. 

 

Council Member Shuttleworth: But we'd run eight 1-inch lines down the driveway? 

 

Mr. Meyer: We wouldn't. We wouldn't run anything. 

 

Council Member Shuttleworth: I understand. 

 

Mr. Meyer: We would set meters on the edge of the road in the right-of-way on 7th Street. 

 

Council Member Shuttleworth: So there would be a gang box of eight meters somewhere in that 
32 feet? 

 

Mr. Meyer: We could do four on one side. However it would be laid out. 

 

Council Member Shuttleworth: OK. 

 

Council Member Barbee: What about other services? What about, so I assume the way this is 
laid out this would be one address from legally right at the end of that driveway and then these 
would be units ABC 123, however they numbered them, right? That would be their legal. 

 

Mr. Meyer: That would be a planning issue. 

 

Mr. Murphy: That’s generally how. 

 

Council Member Barbee: Well, where I’m heading is trash service. So they show their trash 
around at each lot. Are we going onto that private drive to pick up garbage and refuse, or is it 
got to be at the end of the street just like sewage and water? Seems those two should be 
consistent. 

 

Mr. Meyer: I would have to look into that. I do not know that. 

 

Mr. Parvin: They would have ability to go on the drive, and we do have other planned unit 
developments that have been, there's several on Spencer-Farlow. We we're just talking about 
that. 

 

Council Member Shuttleworth: Right, there are on Spencer-Farlow. There was one down there, 
and I thought we limited the number of units on that private drive to three. It was a private 
driveway. Did those three nice little town patio homes, townhomes, whatever you want to call 
them. They're little single-family houses. They're really cute, similar to what Marlow builds, but 
you limited it to three. It was a private driveway. It was a PUD, and you came back and said 
three. 
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Mr. Parvin: Because of density requirements. 

 

Council Member Shuttleworth: OK.  

 

Mr. Parvin: It was R-2, right? So R-2 is 8.7 versus 15 units. 

 

Council Member Shuttleworth: Three on driveway. OK. 

 

Mayor Pierce: Do we have any more questions for any of the parties involved?  

 

Mayor Pro Tem Healy: I do have one question about the particular driveways going to the 
house. I forget who mentioned it that a truck is more than 20 feet long. Are these driveways, do 
we know that they're going to be able to handle vehicles? 

 

Mr. Murphy: The parking spaces required by the Town are 9 feet by 18 foot long. Those are 
standard zoning parking space requirements. We don't dictate it based on the size of vehicles 
purchased. It's a, once again, it's a theoretical scenario. I mean, we have parking up and down in 
and out throughout the Town where three parking spaces are required for a four-bedroom 
home for one person who lives there versus, you know, a same number of people with five 
people living there. The parking fluctuates. It's just a general parking requirement for three 9 
foot by 18 foot spaces for a three- to four-bedroom home. 

 

Mayor Pro Tem Healy: Thank you. 

 

Mr. Murphy: Yes, sir. 

 

Council Member Barbee: And I had one more. What, if you mentioned I apologize, but what was 
P&Z’s recommendation on this? 

 

Mr. Murphy: P&Z’s most recent recommendation was a split vote. 

 

Council Member Barbee: So they didn't make one? 

 

Mr. Murphy: They, yeah, there was three yeas and three nays at the most recent meeting for 
the eight single-family units. 

 

Mayor Pierce: OK, anymore questions? OK, so if not, we'll move into our deliberations. So I'm 
going to ask the Town Attorney to give a brief review of the task at hand, and before you do, 
Attorney Fox, would you, the way I understand, and correct me if I'm wrong, that we are looking 
at whether or not they have the right to do this within our zoning code, and what permits they'll 
need past that will be required by the state and staff, so if you can. 

 

Ms. Fox: They haven’t, you have already legislatively determined that this use is allowed in the 
Town but subject to a conditional-use permit, so those standards are already set out in the 
Town's code. In addition to that, in which the grant order will include, they will have to get all of 
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the permission slips from all the state agencies. They are required for them to eventually be able 
to sell these homes, so that is a standard provision in a grant order. I think staff has also 
requested as a condition a 4-foot sidewalk, which that was on the motion. Other than that, I 
don't know if there were any other conditions that were requested by staff. 

 

Council Member Shuttleworth: I had a question about the 4-foot sidewalk. 

 

Ms. Fox: OK. 

 

Council Member Shuttleworth: Is that along both sides of the driveway, or is it just on the 
remnants of what it fronts on 7th Street? 

 

Mr. Hardison: It is off 7th Street within the right-of-way. 

 

Council Member Shuttleworth: Well, it's not a right-of-way because it's a driveway.  

 

Mr. Hardison: 7th Street is a right-of-way. 

 

Council Member Shuttleworth: Right, but they have 32 feet. He's going 22 of asphalt. Are you 
asking him to put 5 feet of sidewalk on each side? Are you asking him to run it two blocks one 
direction? 

 

Mr. Hardison: No, it would just be the frontage that the property is on 7th, so it would be his 
drive. 

 

So he’s got 32 feet less 22. You're asking him to put 5 feet of concrete on both sides of this 
drive. 

 

Mr. Hardison: I think it would be about 6 feet, but yes. 

 

Council Member Shuttleworth: Is it going to connect the sidewalks, or is it just going to patch 
that one little spot?  

 

Mr. Hardison: There is a driveway into Olde Mariners. 

 

Council Member Shuttleworth: In front of the other residents over there, the gentleman that 
spoke, does he have a sidewalk in front of his property? 

 

Mr. Hardison: He does not. 

 

Mayor Pierce: So that’s not. 

 

Council Member Shuttleworth: Does the lady on the other side have a sidewalk in front of her 
property? 
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Mr. Hardison: No. 

 

Council Member Shuttleworth: So we're gonna have a gap. We're gonna have a sidewalk that 
Jasmine tells me from time to time she takes a picture and shows her kid walking on a sidewalk 
and it stops right at that gentleman's house. 

 

Mr. Hardison: Yes, sir. Every chance. 

 

Council Member Shuttleworth: And we’re just going to have to put two 6-foot sections in the 
middle of the street. 

 

Mr. Hardison: Council can certainly waive that requirement. 

 

Council Member Shuttleworth: I understand. I just want to make sure I'm saying. 

 

Mayor Pierce: So we know that, but why did you ask for it would be my question. 

 

Mr. Hardison: Staff’s recommendation is whenever we can get sidewalks, we want sidewalks, 
and our Bike and Ped Plan states that sidewalks is a desirable location on 7th Street. 

 

Mayor Pierce: And looking at the map, that sidewalk would join into, well let's take Mr. 
Basinger’s property. Would it go into his driveway because it does not look like it can continue 
on through Olde Mariners? 

 

Mr. Hardison: It would stub out into his property, but which is in the right-of-way. 

 

Mr. Parvin: And it picks back up at Olde Mariners. There is one there. 

 

Council Member Shuttleworth: Right, so there’s a right-of-way in front of Mr. Basinger’s house, 
so theoretically if someone wanted to extend a sidewalk from this driveway all the way to the 
existing sidewalk, they could do it in the public right-of-way, even though it's in front of 
someone else's house. It's not there today. It's in the right-of-way. 

 

Mr. Parvin: Right. 

 

Council Member Shuttleworth: Is that right? 

 

Mayor Pierce: And the same on the other side. It would go through this lady's property through 
the driveway and stop at the next house? 

 

Mr. Hardison: Correct. 

 

Mayor Pro Tem Healy: Actually, I think they're just talking about putting.  
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Council Member Shuttleworth: He’s just talking 5 or 6 feet on each side of the driveway. That's 
it. It wouldn't go in front of Basinger’s, and it wouldn't go in front opposite. 

 

Mayor Pierce: I gotcha. 

 

Council Member Shuttleworth: Delaney’s house. Is there sidewalk south of your house? So it 
just stops north of Basinger. 

 

(inaudible comments from Mr. Basinger) 

 

Ms. Fox: Sir, sir. 

 

Council Member Shuttleworth: Stop right there. 

 

Ms. Fox: You can’t, yeah, we can’t hear any conversation from the audience at this point. 

 

Mayor Pierce: Gentlemen? Discussion? Where you wanna start? 

 

Ms. Fox: So just as a reminder, before you begin your deliberations, it's been stated four or five 
times tonight, I always do this at the beginning of our hearing and I always do it at the end, so 
that's not specific to this matter. It's specific to all matters for conditional-use permits. You 
cannot, Council, base your decision on personal preference. This is not a legislative matter. You 
cannot have bias. You must focus on the specific standards and general conditions. You have to 
weigh the evidence that was presented tonight, and you have to base your decision only on the 
competent, material, and substantial evidence. Just so you know from the court's perspective, 
competent evidence is trustworthy and reliable. It is not opinion testimony of lay witnesses on 
the use of a property in a particular way affecting the value of other property, the increase in 
vehicular traffic resulting from proposed use potentially posing a danger to public safety, or any 
other matters which an expert was required to testify or to be admissible in a court of law. 
Material evidence has been determined by the court to be evidence that addresses the general 
and specific standards, so you should reference those standards tonight, which, of course, I 
think the staff has on their PowerPoint in discussing your deliberations. 

 

Mayor Pierce: Discussion?  

 

Council Member Shuttleworth: So, Ms. Fox, unless we've heard direct expert evidence that this 
project does not meet the character and harmony of the surrounding area, if we have not heard 
expert witness to that fact. 

 

Ms. Fox: It doesn't have to be expert, oh, excuse me, I interrupted you, but all testimony doesn't 
have to be expert testimony, but there are some things that the court has said that experts must 
testify on: real estate appraisals. 

 

Council Member Shuttleworth: Right. 
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Ms. Fox: Real estate brokers, appraisers, license credentials. We've had them appear at our 
hearings before. 

 

Council Member Shuttleworth: But harmony and conformity is subjective?  

 

Ms. Fox: It is more subjective. Legislatively, when you put this in your code as a permitted use by 
conditional rights, the Council at that time legislatively determined that there were some things 
that were in harmony with the R-1 district, just by putting that in your in in your code. When the 
public hearings took place and you adopted your code, you have determined that there was 
harmony for some factors at that time. That doesn't mean the things haven't changed in some 
respect, but any evidence that you are considering must be competent and material and 
substantial. 

 

Mayor Pierce: So I hear you saying that as far as to devalue someone's property, they would 
have to have an expert witness testify about devaluing the property. 

 

Ms. Fox: That is correct.  

 

Mayor Pierce: Where we heard someone testify that it valued the property. It would not. 

 

Ms. Fox: You can only consider expert testimony that would be admissible in the court on 
something such as value. 

 

Council Member Shuttleworth: Well, there's two ways we can handle this, Madam Mayor. We 
could have a motion and then see how the vote goes and have that discussion, or you can have 
a discussion to try and formulate a motion.  

 

Mayor Pierce: Well let's talk about it for just a minute. Does anybody have anything they want 
to bring up or things that would help us maybe have some vision one way or another? 

 

Council Member Barbee: I mean, I'll tell you where my head is. I get the property owners’ 
concerns. The difficult part of sitting here is, as Attorney Fox said, my job is not to determine 
whether I like it. It is to determine whether they've met the burden whether it meets ordinance, 
basically, that they follow the law. So this is one of, we get these every now and then that are 
really tough that, you know, I mean, but that's where my head is. I think they've met the 
requirement, whether I personally like it or not. 

 

Mayor Pierce: And so with that comment being made, it's not about how we feel or whether we 
like something or not. We have to go by what law is in, we have to abide by the certain four 
specific standards or seven specific standards and four general conditions that we have in front 
of us. Each one of us do, and I’m sure we're all reading them. Does anyone else have any 
comments or? Steve? 

 

Council Member Shuttleworth: I would like to know from staff what a material change is to a 
PUD. If this should be approved, what would be considered a material change that would 
require another hearing or a modification of the PUD? 
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Mr. Hardison: Any expansion in the footprint, density, lot coverage would require it. 

 

Mayor Pierce: But not a reduction. Any increase. 

 

Mr. Hardison: No, they can always reduce, but once you increase then that’ll be considered a 
modification to the approved plan. 

 

Council Member Shuttleworth: How about utilities and stormwater? 

 

Mr. Hardison: They’ll have to be done per design by state requirements or Town. 

 

Mayor Pierce: So no matter how we vote tonight, if we were to vote in favor of the project, that 
doesn't mean they're going to get permitted for everything. 

 

Mr. Murphy: Correct, it’s actually. 

 

Mayor Pierce: Still has a lot of hoops to jump through to get there.  

 

Mayor Pro Tem Healy: So I will say one thing. They've met all the standards for the CUP. That's, I 
mean, there's no question that they've actually gone above and beyond as far as being a good 
steward to the community. And what strikes me is that the good things that they said about 
Marlow Construction, to me, is worthy. It is. I think it's up to them, it's up to Marlow 
Construction if they get approved for them to go through the permitting process, the 
stormwater, the power, everything. So the law basically says that we should approve this. Now 
it doesn't mean that it's going to take place because they still have to go through the gamut, but 
I would recommend that it gets approved. I agree with Lynn. 

 

Mayor Pierce: Anyone else like to make any comments? 

 

Council Member Shuttleworth: I think it's silly to ask someone to put a sidewalk 6 feet on each 
side of a driveway.  

 

Mayor Pro Tem Healy: I agree 100 percent.  

 

Council Member Shuttleworth: If we're gonna do it, just connect it to the existing sidewalk. 
There's no reason just to hopscotch through an area. That's just one. 

 

Mayor Pro Tem Healy: Either that or no sidewalk at all. 

 

Council Member Garza: Yeah, I wouldn’t put that there. 

 

Council Member Shuttleworth: I'm concerned about, I’m not sure how to do the conditions that 
the staff has laid out that we have to meet, the 1-4, when we talk about the buffer at the 
entrance, I think there's some design issues, and that's why I ask what are modifications because 
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the buffer of trees along both right-of-ways when you start putting gang boxes, it's just going to 
get tough, and I don't know how Ms. Fox tells me we do that. They have met 1, 2, and 3. It's 
questionable in some minds whether 4 is met. I just I think there's some struggle here that is 
going to perpetuate unease on both sides. On the applicant side, not understanding how he's 
going to get some of these things done, and on the neighbors, not understanding what a 
definitive design looks like. I'm just struggling with that. I understand the sewer, we got that 
answer. The water, interesting. Stormwater, and so I don’t know. And I agree. Mr. Marlow builds 
beautiful properties. The density, I struggle with the driveway issue. You don't have a stop sign 
on a driveway. I just, are we going to name it? 

 

Mayor Pierce: And I share your concerns, Steve, and we depend on staff to give us that 
information because we certainly are not planners, so they're the experts in that area. 

 

Council Member Garza: We have tough calls at the moment. We do, but unfortunately, I 
understand both aspects. If there's something what I wanted to do and I met all that criteria and 
legally there are those moments when we still have to vote, and we have to be in favor for it is 
what I feel. The driveway thing the, I don't know much about the stormwater, but to some 
points I do agree with Steve and that would be one thing. However, according to our attorney, 
that's not something we're speaking about this moment. It's just the rest of the criteria, whether 
they meet things or not. Beyond that, I have no control over that, but at this moment. 

 

Council Member Shuttleworth: How do you feel about the sidewalk? 

 

Council Member Garza: I say take that out. I understand if we can, let's get sidewalks, but in that 
area I would say take that 4-foot sidewalk problem. Don't even use that as a criteria. But it has 
my vote.  

 

Council Member Barbee: Yeah, on the sidewalk, Steve, I would be, I would say the same thing. I 
say get sidewalks every time you can. I do agree with Jeremy, but we're talking.  

 

Mayor Pierce: When it makes sense. 

 

Council Member Barbee: Something so small. 

 

Council Member Shuttleworth: Alright, so I’m going to help you guys out, even though I think 
the neighbors were expecting me not to and I think the applicant was expecting me not to, 
but I’m going to make a motion to approve. I’m looking and find that it meets the four criteria. 
I'm looking for my number. 

 

Mayor Pierce: Seven specific standards, four general conditions. 

 

Council Member Shuttleworth: It’s the seven specific standards and that meets the four general 
conditions if developed according to the plan as submitted and approved, and I would move to 
remove the requirement for the 4-foot wide sidewalk on either side of the driveway. 

 

Mayor Pierce: Land Use Plan? And it’s consistent? 
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Council Member Shuttleworth: And it's consistent with the Land Use Plan. Thank you. 

 

Mayor Pierce: OK, motion on the floor. All in favor? 

 

Council: Aye. 

 

Mayor Pierce: All opposed? Motion passes 5 to 0.  

 

Council Member Barbee: For the record, I hate this.  

 

Mayor Pierce: Hm? 

 

Council Member Barbee: For the record, I hate this. 

 

Mayor Pierce: You still like this job? 

 

Council Member Barbee: Well, you got citizens doing the right, everybody’s doing the right 
thing. It’s just unfortunate situation. 

 

Mayor Pierce: And Mr. Marlow, we hope that you would, well I know you're a great guy and you 
guys could build a wonderful product. We hope that you would work with these residents in 
harmony and good faith for the community. Thank you. Alright, so we're going to move along. 
Do we have any non-agenda items? Yes, ma'am. Oh, sorry. I didn't close, did I? Alright, I’m sorry. 
I'll make a I'll make a motion that we close our evidentiary hearing. All in favor? 

 

Council: Aye (motion passed unanimously). 

 

ITEMS OF BUSINESS  
None 
 
NON-AGENDA ITEMS 
Ms. Fox said the Town had been contacted by the owners of 1814 Carolina Beach Avenue North 
regarding a piece of land they inherited through their parents’ estate that they would like to 
donate to the Town. This is an empty piece of land that is underwater. Council Member 
Shuttleworth said maps show the land is 100 percent submerged. Ms. Fox said it is really owned 
by the State of North Carolina and will likely continue to be because that area is systematically 
renourished by public funds. However, the State has not declared itself the owner and therefore 
the family is being taxed yearly on the property, which shows a tax value of $200. Mayor Pierce 
asked if there was any liability if the Town accepted the offer. Ms. Fox said no because the Town 
already owns the parcel next to it. Mr. Oakley said he did not see any reason for the Town to 
decline the offer. Council came to a consensus to move ahead with accepting the land donation.  
 
Council Member Garza said he would like to see a bigger police presence on foot in the 
Boardwalk area. He said he recently spent three hours on the Boardwalk but did not see any 
officers during that time. He said having a more regular presence of officers would encourage 
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people to social distance and follow rules. Mayor Pro Tem Healy said he thinks the Police 
Department is doing a great job with citations but encourages them to look into concentrating 
more on the Boardwalk area. 
 
Council Member Garza asked whether the Pleasure Island Chamber of Commerce had any ideas 
for entertainment as the peak season winds down. Mayor Pierce said she would like to invite 
the organization to Council’s next workshop to hear ideas. 
 
Council Member Garza said he had heard from a resident about an idea used in California 
municipalities that grandfathered in longtime fixed-income residents at affordable tax values. 
He said he would like Ms. Fox to look into the possibility of doing this here. 
 
Council Member Garza also encouraged staff to be on the lookout for blind spots at cross streets 
and fix those when discovered. 
 
Mayor Pro Team Healy said he would like to get Council’s approval for a 16-by-8 wooden sign 
that resembles a postcard to go over the bridge on the right as people enter the Town. He said 
this will be done by the Carolina Beach Mural Project and is completely paid for by donations. It 
will also be maintained by the project. The images on the postcard would reflect demographics 
of today. Mr. Oakley said the N.C. Department of Transportation would most likely allow the 
sign to be placed in the right-of-way. Mayor Pierce said the DOT would not grant this permission 
if the sign incorporated anything controversial. Council Member Garza suggested delaying a 
vote until Council could see the final product. Mayor Pierce said it would be nice to see at least a 
couple of different options for the sign. Council Member Shuttleworth said conceptually he’s OK 
with the size and location of the sign but also wants to see what it will look like before voting. 
Mayor Pro Tem Healy said he would work with the artist and come back to Council. Council 
Member Garza said he wants to ensure the project fully understands the maintenance needs of 
this endeavor and suggested getting a proposed plan. 
 
Mayor Pro Tem Healy brought up striping on Canal Drive again and said it’s still an issue. Mr. 
Oakley said some of this project has been started. 
 
Mayor Pro Tem Healy said the Town’s Census participation is at 36.7 percent. He said each 
resident counted equates to $16,000 in federal funding, so he reiterated the importance of the 
count. He said a Census official is now knocking on doors to count those who have not 
participated, so he is hopeful that number will improve soon. 
 
Council Member Barbee said he wanted to support what Council Member Garza said about the 
Boardwalk. He said due to the lack of events this year as well as COVID-19 itself, fewer families 
are going there and he senses that the vibe is changing. He said the Town worked hard to make 
the area family-friendly and would like to see more diligence from the Police Department. 
 
ADJOURNMENT 
Mayor Pierce made a motion to adjourn at 9:45 PM. Motion passed unanimously.  
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CAROLINA BEACH 

Town Council Special Meeting Minutes 
Thursday, August 20, 2020 @ 6:00 PM 

Carolina Beach Lake Park 
Carolina Beach, NC 28428 

 

ASSEMBLY 

A special meeting of the Town of Carolina Beach Town Council was held on Thursday, August 20, 
2020, at 6:00 PM at the Carolina Beach Lake Park.  
 
PRESENT: Mayor LeAnn Pierce, Council Member Steve Shuttleworth, Council Member JoDan 
Garza, and Council Member Lynn Barbee  
 
ABSENT: MPT Healy (Excused) 
 
ALSO PRESENT: Town Manager Bruce Oakley, Assistant Town Manager Ed Parvin, Town Clerk 
Kim Ward, and Town Attorney Noel Fox. 
 
CALL TO ORDER 
 
Mayor Pierce called the meeting to order and thanked everyone for coming out.  She stated that 
there were two discussion topics running simultaneously and that guests could visit either one 
or both sessions.  This meeting is set up for more of an open house type setting.  
 
LAND USE PLAN PUBLIC HEARING 
 
Planning Director Jeremy Hardison hosted an information session on the proposed Land Use 
Plan and held an informal public hearing for the public to provide input.  The following residents 
gave input on the proposed Land Use Plan: 
Justin Donaton, 103 South Lake Park Boulevard 
Jeffrey and Jocelyne Gallagher, 814 Monroe Avenue 
John Jakub, 801 South Lake Park Boulevard 
 
LAKE PARK RENOVATION PRESENTATION 
 
A resident formed committee presented ideas for landscape ideas around Lake Park.  They 
received comments from other residents and will work with the Parks and Recreation 
Department on presenting the final recommendation to Council.   
 
CLOSED SESSION TO DISCUSS A PERSONNEL AND ATTORNEY/CLIENT MATTER IN ACCORDANCE 
TO NCGS 143-318.11(a)(3) AND (6). 
  
Mayor Pierce made a motion to go into closed session to discuss a personnel and attorney/client 
matter in accordance to NCGS 143-318.11(a)(3) and (6).  The matters being discuss include: 
Stier Construction vs Town of Carolina Beach CVS 19-2999 
Carolina Beach Yacht Club vs Town of Carolina Beach CVS 20-1444 
Motion passed unanimously. 
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Mayor Pierce made a motion to return to open session at 7:00 p.m. stating the only action taken 
involved a personnel matter. 
 
ADJOURNMENT 
Mayor Pierce adjourned the meeting at 7:00 PM.  
 
Submitted by Kimberlee Ward, Town Clerk 
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AGENDA ITEM COVERSHEET 

PREPARED BY: Kim Ward DEPARTMENT: Clerk 

MEETING: Town Council – 9/8/2020 

SUBJECT:  WMPO Presentation 

  

BACKGROUND: 

The Wilmington Urban Area Metropolitan Planning Organization will present the highlights of 
the Cape Fear Moving Forward 2045 Metropolitan Transportation Plan that is scheduled to be 
adopted at their October WMPO Board meeting. 
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AGENDA ITEM COVERSHEET 

PREPARED BY: Tim Murphy DEPARTMENT: Parks and Rec 

MEETING: Town Council – 09/08/2020 

SUBJECT:  Events - Request for discounted Freeman Park daily passes by the Pleasure 
Island Surf Fishing Challenge Group  

  

BACKGROUND: 
The Pleasure Island Surf Fishing Challenge will be October 16-18, 2020.  Last year, Lanier 
Parking provided this event with a set number of passes for Friday-Saturday (1:00 pm -1:00 
pm), and then 50 day passes for Saturday-Sunday (1:00 pm-1:00 pm). Following the event, they 
returned the unused day passes to Lanier, along with payment for all the passes sold. Mr. Gary 
Hurley (event liaison) will be on hand to answer questions.  

ACTION REQUESTED: 

The Pleasure Island Surf Fishing Challenge group is requesting Council approve the same 
number of passes this year at the same discounted rate of 50% off. 

RECOMMENDED MOTION: 

Motion to approve a set number of Freeman Park passes for the anglers attending the Pleasure Island 
Surf Fishing Challenge October 16-18, 2020 at a discounted rate. 
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AGENDA ITEM COVERSHEET 

PREPARED BY: Tim Murphy DEPARTMENT: Parks and Recreation 

MEETING: Town Council – 09/08/2020 

SUBJECT:  Events - Request to approve Trash to Treasure Event at CB Lake Park 

  

BACKGROUND: 

The Pleasure Island Chamber of Commerce submitted an application for an event featuring the 
biggest yard sale for one day only on 11/07/2020.  The event will be similar to the Carolina 
Beach Market. Mr. Greg Reynolds will be on hand to answer questions. 

ACTION REQUESTED: 

The Pleasure Island Chamber of Commerce is requesting approval of this event.   

RECOMMENDED MOTION: 

The Events Committee recommends Town Council approve of this event.   
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AGENDA ITEM COVERSHEET 

PREPARED BY: Tim Murphy DEPARTMENT: Parks and Rec 

MEETING: Town Council- 9/08/2020 

SUBJECT:  Events - Island Men Golf Cart Rally and Fund Raiser 10/24/20  

  

BACKGROUND: 
The Island men have submitted a special event application for a golf cart rally that would 
consist of a “parade” of decorated golf carts driving through a route and ultimately being 
judged by a panel just outside the Boardwalk Gazebo.  Afterwards everyone will disperse into 
restaurants or retailers for an evening out. Mr. Bob Lewis will be in attendance to answer any questions.  
 

ACTION REQUESTED:  

To approve of the event application for the Golf Cart Rally on 10/24/20 

RECOMMENDED MOTION: 

The Events Committee recommends approval of this event. 
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Special Events 
SEPTEMBER/OCTOBER
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CAROLINA BEACH SURF FISHING 
TOURNAMENT 

OCTOBER 16-18th

The Annual Surf fishing tournament 
sponsored by the Fisherman’s Post is 
requesting discounted daily parking 
passes for Freeman Park.

Mr. Gary Hurley is available to answer 
any questions.
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Trash To Treasure at CB Lake 11/07/2020
Sponsored By Pleasure Island Chamber of Commerce

Mr. Greg Reynolds with the 

Pleasure Island Chamber of

Commerce is available for

Questions.

EVENT APPROVAL REQUEST
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EVENT APPROVAL REQUEST
Golf Cart Rally and Fund Raiser sponsored by Island Men

Saturday, October 24th 6:30-8:00

Mr. Bob Lewis from
Island Men is 
available to answer 
any questions.
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QUESTIONS?
Tim Murphy

Recreation Programs Superintendent/Community Events Coordinator

tim.murphy@carolinabeach.org

910.707.2064 
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AGENDA ITEM COVERSHEET 

PREPARED BY: Bruce Oakley, Town Manager DEPARTMENT: Executive 

MEETING: Town Council – September 8, 2020 

SUBJECT:  Manager’s Update 

  

BACKGROUND: 

Town Manager Bruce Oakley will update Council on current and future projects.   
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AGENDA ITEM COVERSHEET 

PREPARED BY: Jeremy Hardison, Planning & 
Development Director  

DEPARTMENT: Planning & 
Development 

MEETING: Town Council – 8 September 2020 

SUBJECT:  Consider adopting the 2020 CAMA Land Use Plan Update (LUP) 

  

BACKGROUND: 
Staff heard the following comments from the August 20th meeting at the Lake.   

 

The LUP plan can be found on the project website for review. 

https://www.carolinabeachcamaupdate.com/resources 

 
Once the plan has been adopted by the Town the plan should be delivered to the NC Division of 

Coastal Management 45 days prior to the Coastal Resource Commission for certification. 

ACTION REQUESTED: 

Adopt the 2020 CAMA Land Use Plan update  
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RECOMMENDED MOTION: 

To adopt the 2020 Town of Carolina Beach CAMA Land Use Plan.  
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AGENDA ITEM COVERSHEET 

PREPARED BY: Jeremy Hardison, Planning & 
Development Director  

DEPARTMENT: Planning & 
Development  

MEETING: Town Council   – 9/8/2020 

SUBJECT:  Approve the preliminary plat approval for Hidden Hills Phase II Subdivision 

  

BACKGROUND: 
The applicant, Ann Freeman, is requesting preliminary plat approval for Hidden Hills Phase II 

Subdivision located on the west side of St. Joseph Street, east of Portside Village.  Hidden Hills 

Subdivision has an approximately total area of 13 acres. 6.4 acres were approved for 10 lots in 2005.  

Two of the lots have been combined for a total of 9 lots.  Seven of the lots have been developed.  Phase II 

will consist of 6 lots for a total of 15 lots for the subdivision.  The lots will be between 23,000 – 73,000 

sq. ft. There is an existing access (hidden Hills Dr) to the subdivision to St. Joseph Street and with a 42’ 

private right-of-way.  The applicant proposes to extend the existing 42’ Oak Outlook Way right-of-way 

225’ to the south.  The pavement will match the exiting width of 22’. There will be a 40’ x 120’ hammer 

head at the end of Oak Outlook Way for turnaround access.  A small portion of the proposed lots is in a 

floodzone and wetlands, but the structures will be located on high ground and no wetland disturbance will 

occur.  There are two existing fire hydrants to service the subdivision. Water and sewer will be extended 

to service the lots. An additional light pole will be added and street trees for every 50’ of lot frontage. 

Existing vegetation can be used and is encouraged.   Sidewalks were not required for Phase I and none are 

being proposed for Phase II. 

 
Single-family dwellings are permitted by right in the R-2 zoning district. The minimum lot size is 7,000 

square feet and setbacks for structures in this district are 25 feet from the front, 10 feet off the rear, and 

7.5 feet from the side yard except on corner lots where 12.5 feet will be required.  Maximum height for 

structures is 50 feet for this district. The maximum lot coverage per lot will not exceed 40% and is within 

the allowable density for the R-2 zone.  

 

PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION: 

Planning & Zoning Commission recommended approval of the Hidden Hills phase II preliminary 

subdivision with staff recommendation.   

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

 

Planning Staff recommends approval of this preliminary plat subject to the following conditions.  Final 

plat may not be submitted for approval until all conditions, revisions, changes and submissions are made.  

The conditions, revisions, changes and submissions to be made are as follows: 

 

1. Approval letter from the Division of Water Quality for Stormwater Control. 

2. Approval letter from the Division of Land Quality for Sedimentation and Erosion Control. 
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3. Street trees shall be installed according to preliminary plat submittal.  Existing vegetation can be 

used for this requirement. 

4. The accurate locations and descriptions of all monuments, markers and control points. 

5. A drainage plan that will include all portions of the development shall be submitted.  This plan 

shall be prepared and sealed by a registered surveyor or engineer.   

6. Section 12-130 (The Planning and Zoning Commission may require the subdivider to construct a 

concrete sidewalk on one (1) side of all frontage streets and on one (1) or both sides of all other 

streets within the subdivision.  The construction of all sidewalks shall be in accordance with plans 

and standard specifications approved by the Planning and Zoning Commission). 

7. Lot coverage for any lot located within the subdivision shall not exceed 40% maximum lot 

coverage. 

8. Designate on Plan location of all open space, recreation area, and stormwater pond and designate 

ownership. 

9. Grading, surfacing, curb and gutters, sidewalks, street lighting, street trees, sewage disposal 

facilities, stormwater drainage facilities, and other utilities shall be installed and certified by a 

surveyor and/or engineer or Performance Guarantee provided prior to recordation of the final plat.  

10. Planning & Zoning Commission may recommend a street stub out for Oak Outlook Way extension 

to the adjacent south parcel.   

11. Any wetlands disturbance shall receive Army Corps of Engineer approval.  
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Hidden Hills 
TOWN COUNCIL SEPTEMBER 8, 2020 
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Sec. 36-66. - Planning and zoning commission review; approval.

(a) The planning and zoning commission shall review and take final action on each 
preliminary plat.

(b) Upon completion of the preliminary plat review, the planning and zoning 
commission shall forward its recommendation to the town council for final 
approval.

Sec. 36-67. - Town council review; approval.

(a) The town council shall review and take final action on each preliminary plat 

(b) The town council shall approve or disapprove the plat.

Installation/arrangement of plat improvements. Upon approval of the preliminary plat by the 

town council, the subdivider may proceed with the installation or arrangement for required 

improvements in accordance with the approved preliminary plat and the requirements of this 

article, and then may proceed with the preparation of the final plat.
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2005 – 10 lot subdivision. 2020 – 6.5 Acres (Phase II) 
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Proposed 
6 lots

Zoning
R-2  Single-family 
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• Private 42’ ROW 

• Extending Oak Outlook Way 225’ 

• w/ 40’  X 120’ hammer head

• 22’ pavement width (no curb & gutter)

• Fire hydrant -2 existing  

• Water (10’ & 15’ Utility easement) 

• Sewer 

• Stormwater 

• Wetlands 

• Lighting- one proposed light pole  

• Landscaping - street trees every 50’ 

• Sidewalks 

• Floodzone
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Comments 

• Update- state stormwater plan, sedimentation & erosion control, water quality 
permit

• Army Corps Permit – show wetland disturbance  

• Install Survey Monument

• Future Interconnectivity (stub out) 
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RECOMMENDATION/ACTION

The applicant addressed Technical Review Committee comments and Planning 
Staff recommends approval of the preliminary plat.

Upon completion of the preliminary plat review, the Planning and Zoning 
Commission shall approve, approve conditionally, or disapprove the plat.

PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION:

Planning & Zoning Commission recommended approval of the Hidden Hills phase II preliminary subdivision with 

staff recommendation
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AGENDA ITEM COVERSHEET 

PREPARED BY: Jeremy Hardison, Planning & 
Development Director  

DEPARTMENT: Planning & 
Development  

MEETING: Town Council – 9/8/2020 

SUBJECT:  
Adopt a resolution to decrease the speed limit on Dow Rd and Ocean Blvd. 
Applicant: Town of Carolina Beach 

  

BACKGROUND: 
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Town of Carolina Beach 

Town Council 

 

                                                  

             
 
 

 

Town of Carolina Beach 
Resolution No. 20-2231 
1 | P a g e  
 

 

Resolution 20-2231 

 

Resolution No.20-2231 

Resolution Supporting the Reduction of the Speed Limit on Dow Road from Tarboro Avenue to Ocean 

Boulevard & on Ocean Boulevard from Dow Road to Spot Lane 

WHEREAS, the Town of Carolina Beach hereby supports the reduction in the speed limit on Dow Road 

between Tarboro Avenue and Ocean Boulevard from 55 mph to 45 mph & on Ocean Boulevard between 

Dow Road and Spot Lane from 45mph to 35mph.  

WHEREAS, the Town Council, believes that this reduction in speed limit is for the best interest and 

safety of the residents and travel in the Town of Carolina Beach.  

WHEREAS, the Town of Carolina Beach will enforce the designated speed limit on Dow Road and Ocean 

Boulevard. 

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that the Town of Carolina Beach Town Council hereby support the 

reduction in the speed limit on Dow Road between Tarboro Avenue and Ocean Boulevard from 55 mph 

to 45 mph & on Ocean Boulevard between Dow Road and Spot Lane from 45mph to 35mph.  

ADOPTED this 9th day of September 2020. 

 

______________________________________  _______________________________________ 

LeAnn Pierce, Mayor     Attest:  Kimberlee Ward, Town Clerk 
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AGENDA ITEM COVERSHEET 

PREPARED BY: Jay Healy, Mayor Pro Tem DEPARTMENT: Legislative 

MEETING: Town Council – 9/8/2020 

SUBJECT:  Discussion of Town Mural Design 

  

BACKGROUND: 

MPT Healy will present the recommendation for a Town Mural. 

ACTION REQUESTED: 

Council consider approving design for mural.  
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AGENDA ITEM COVERSHEET 

PREPARED BY: Kim Ward DEPARTMENT: Clerk 

MEETING: Town Council – 9/8/2020 

SUBJECT:  Committee Appointments 

  

BACKGROUND: 

On June 30, 2020, 19 committee member’s terms expired.  Out of the 19, 12 members are 
seeking re-appointment.  Due to COVID-19, Council has postponed committee meetings and 
appointments.  Council decided at the August 25, 2020 workshop to move forward with 
committee appointments at the September 8, 2020 meeting. 

ACTION REQUESTED: 

Review the 2020 committee ballot and vote for the appropriate number of appointments as 
listed on the ballot.  The Town Clerk will tally the votes during the meeting and the final results 
will be announced at the end of the meeting.  
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2020 Annual Committee Appointments 

Bike/Ped has one vacant seat.  Steve Klem moved off the Island.  

Please Select One: 

_____ Scott Cornelison (new applicant – also applying for 6 others) 

_____ Laura Mandato (new applicant) 

_____ John Marshall (new applicant) 

_____ Ricky Niec (new applicant) 

_____ Jeff Page (new applicant) 

 

Board of Adjustment has two expiring terms.   

Please Select Two: 

_____  *Wayne Hartsell (incumbent – served 8 terms) 

_____  *Patrick Boykin (incumbent – served 1 term) 

_____  Keith Bloemendaal (new applicant) 

_____  Scott Cornelison (new applicant – also applying for 6 others) 

 

Freeman Park has two expiring terms.   

Please Select Two: 

_____  *Alex Torres (incumbent – served 1 term) 

_____  *Sammy Vestal (incumbent – served 2 terms) 

_____  Mark George (new applicant) 

_____  Brandon Guthrie (new applicant) 

_____  Christina Lopez (new applicant) 

_____  Bill Skinner (new applicant – also serves on the Operations and Canal Drive Committees) 

 

Marketing Committee has two expiring terms.   

Please Select Two: 

_____  *Brad Bradley (incumbent – served 1 term) 

_____  *Tom Ulring (incumbent – served 1 term) 

_____  Jessica Guinn (new applicant) 

_____  Tim Hickey (new applicant) 

_____  Rachel Nadeau (new applicant) 

_____  Amanda Nestor (new applicant – serves on BOA also applying for P&Z) 

_____  Lexi Pate (new applicant) 

_____  Nicole Powell (new applicant) 

_____  Jullena Jones Shelley (new applicant – also serves on BOA & Beautification) 

_____  David Weimer (new applicant) 

 

Parks and Rec Committee has four expiring terms. Shannon Fussell moved off the Island.  

Please Select Four: 

_____ *Duke Hagestrom (incumbent – served 3 terms) 

_____ *Alex Torres (incumbent – served 1 term) 

_____ *Michael Callahan (incumbent – served 3 terms) 

_____ Christopher Bartosik (new applicant) 
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_____ Jessica Guinn (new applicant) 

_____ Emily Harding (new applicant – also serves on Beautification Comm) 

_____ Eric Lachance (new applicant) 

_____ Danielle Kurtz (new applicant – also serves on Bike/Ped) 

_____ Maureen Lewis (new applicant – also serves on Bus. and Econ) 

_____ Louis Sawyer (new applicant) 

_____ Scott Cornelison (new applicant – also applying for 6 others)) 

 

Planning and Zoning has four expiring terms.  

Please Select Four: 

*****  Mike Hoffer is not seeking re-appointment 

_____  *Keith Bloemendaal (incumbent – served 2 terms) 

_____  *Wayne Rouse (incumbent – served 1 term) 

_____  *Debra LeCompte (incumbent – served 1 terms) 

_____  George Acker (new applicant – also applying for PAC) 

_____  Ethan Crouch (new applicant) 

_____  David Gadalla (new applicant) 

_____  Eric Lachance (new applicant – also applying for Parks) 

_____  Paul Levy (new applicant – serves on Ops and Bus and Econ applying for MAC & PAC) 

_____  Quinn Marlow (new applicant) 

_____  Amanda Nestor (new applicant – also serves on BOA) 

_____  Todd Piper (new applicant) 

_____  Scott Cornelison (new applicant – also applying for 6 others) 

 

Police Advisory has four expiring terms. 

Please Select Four: 

*****  Jeff Hogan is not seeking re-appointment 

*****  John Coleman is not seeking re-appointment 

*****  Ken Hodges is not seeking re-appointment 

*****  Wayne Rouse is not seeking re-appointment 

_____  George Acker (new applicant – also applying for P&Z) 

_____  Amanda Amyot (new applicant) 

_____  Joe Benson (new applicant) 

_____  Scott Cornelison (new applicant – also applying for 6 others) 

_____  David Cole (new applicant – serves on Ops Committee) 

_____  Hope Combs (new applicant) 

_____  Arthur Hughes (new applicant – also serves on Ops) 

_____  Paul Levy (new applicant – serves on Ops and Bus and Econ applying for MAC & P&Z) 

_____  Shannon Spell (new applicant) 

 

Operations Advisory Committee has one expiring term.  No new applications received. 

Please Select One: 

***** Ron Bond is not seeking re-appointment 

_____  Scott Cornelison (new applicant – also applying for 6 others) 89
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